	Technical	Report	Documentation	Page
--	-----------	--------	---------------	------

1. Report No.	2. Government Accession	No.	3. Recipient's Catalog N	o.
FHWA/TX-09/0-5771-1				
4. Title and Subtitle			5. Report Date	
MONITORING WORK ZONE SA IN TEXAS	FELY AND MOBI	LITY IMPACTS	September 2008	2000
IN IEAAS			Published: May 2	
			6. Performing Organizat	ion Code
7. Author(s)			8. Performing Organizat	ion Report No.
Gerald L. Ullman, Richard J. Porter	, and Ganesh J. Kar	kee	Report 0-5771-1	
9. Performing Organization Name and Address			10. Work Unit No. (TRA	IS)
Texas Transportation Institute			11. Contract or Grant No	
The Texas A&M University System College Station, Texas 77843-3135	1		Project 0-5771	
			-	
12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address Texas Department of Transportation			13. Type of Report and P Technical Report	
Research and Technology Impleme			September 2006-	
P.O. Box 5080			14. Sponsoring Agency C	<u> </u>
Austin, Texas 78763-5080				
15. Supplementary Notes				
Project performed in cooperation w	ith the Texas Depar	tment of Transpor	tation and the Fede	eral Highway
Administration.				
Project Title: Developing a Work Z	•	oility Performance	Monitoring Plan f	or Texas
URL: http://tti.tamu.edu/documents	/0-5771-1.pdf			
16. Abstract				
In this report, Texas Transportation	Institute researcher	s identify key wor	k zone safety and 1	nobility
performance measures that the Texa				
zone monitoring program within a c	listrict, region, or ac	cross the state. An	alysis methodolog	ies and
computational procedures are prese				
mobility-based measures, researche				
travel time delay data caused by ten				result from those
activities are the simplest to isolate	and attribute to the	work activities the	emselves.	
With record to work zone sofety me	nitaring ragaaraha	a davialanad nraaa	duras that aid a di	triat or project
With regard to work zone safety mo				
engineer in determining which projects are most suitable for safety monitoring via a periodic review of crash statistics occurring before and during the project. Researchers developed graphs that indicate combinations				
of work zone length (or work zone segment length), average daily traffic, normal crash rate, and work zone				
phase or project direction that will most likely allow for reasonable inferences to be made regarding the				
relative level of safety being maintained within the project. Researchers also developed graphs to aid field or district personnel in quickly determining whether accident frequencies being experienced during a project are				
district personnel in quickly determining whether accident frequencies being experienced during a project a within, or above, tolerance limits for that type of project on that facility.				
	-			
17. Key Words		18. Distribution Statemen		
Work Zone, Temporary Traffic Cor	·		This document is av	vailable to the
Performance Measures, Traffic Imp	acts	public through N		
			al Information Ser	vice
		Springfield, Virg http://www.ntis.g		
19. Security Classif.(of this report)	20. Security Classif.(of thi	· ·	21. No. of Pages	22. Price
Unclassified	Unclassified	s puge)	108	22.11100
Form DOT F 1700.7 (8-72) Reproduction of comple			I	

MONITORING WORK ZONE SAFETY AND MOBILITY IMPACTS IN TEXAS

by

Gerald L. Ullman, Ph.D., P.E. Senior Research Engineer Texas Transportation Institute

Richard J. Porter, Ph.D. Assistant Research Scientist Texas Transportation Institute

and

Ganesh J. Karkee, Ph.D. Assistant Research Scientist Texas Transportation Institute

Report 0-5771-1 Project 0-5771 Project Title: Developing a Work Zone Safety and Mobility Performance Monitoring Plan for Texas

> Performed in cooperation with the Texas Department of Transportation and the Federal Highway Administration

> > September 2008 Published: May 2009

TEXAS TRANSPORTATION INSTITUTE The Texas A&M University System College Station, Texas 77843-3135

DISCLAIMER

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and the accuracy of the data presented herein. The contents do not necessarily reflect the official view or policies of the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) or the Texas Department of Transportation (TxDOT). This report does not constitute a standard, specification, or regulation. This report is not intended for construction, bidding, or permit purposes. The engineer in charge of the project was Gerald L. Ullman, P.E. #66876.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This project was conducted in cooperation with TxDOT and FHWA. The research documented herein was overseen by a TxDOT Project Monitoring Committee. Jose Gaytan served as the project director and Craig Clark served as the Research Management Committee 4 (RMC 4) program coordinator. Cynthia Landez, Darwin Lankford, Ismael Soto, Gary Tarter, and Wade Odell served as project advisors. The assistance and direction provided by these individuals over the course of the project is gratefully acknowledged.

The authors also wish to acknowledge the contributions of Keith Knapp and Tom Hartmann, who assisted in various activities of this project while they were employed at Texas Transportation Institute (TTI).

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES	. viii
LIST OF TABLES	ix
INTRODUCTION.	1
Statement of the Problem	1
Project Objectives	2
BACKGROUND	3
Previous Efforts to Monitor Work Zone Performance	3
Identifying TxDOT Work Zone Performance Measurement Goals and Objectives	16
DEFINING A WORK ZONE SAFETY AND MOBILITY MONITORING PLAN	19
Identifying Suitable Performance Measures	19
Mobility-Based Performance Measures	
Safety-Based Performance Measures	22
Defining Necessary Data Requirements	23
Work Zone Mobility Monitoring: Analysis Methodologies and Computational Procedures	28
TMC-Supported Mobility Monitoring	28
Non-TMC-Supported Mobility Monitoring	34
Work Zone Safety Monitoring: Analysis Methodologies and Computational Procedures	43
Estimating the Practicality and Frequency of Real-Time Work Zone Safety Monitoring	
Determining if Safety Has Declined More than Expected or More than Tolerable	
on a Work Zone Segment	50
WORK ZONE MOBILITY MONITORING PILOT TESTING	57
Overview	57
Site Description	57
Data Collection	58
Travel Time Data	58
Traffic Sensor Data	
Manual Observation of Congestion by TxDOT Personnel	64
Results	
WORK ZONE SAFETY MONITORING PILOT TESTING	. 69
Analysis of Entire Work Zone: Both Directions Together	72
Analysis of One Mile Segments: Both Directions Together	78
Summary	90
SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS	. 91
REFERENCES	. 93
APPENDIX: TRANSGUIDE-DETECTED QUEUE PRESENCE	
DURING IH-35 PILOT TEST	95

LIST OF FIGURES

Page

Figure 1. Construction Progress Measures from Florida DOT (recreated from 3)	. 6
Figure 2. Work Zone Enforcement Efforts by the Florida Highway Patrol (recreated from 4)	. 7
Figure 3. Ohio DOT Work Zone Safety Performance Measures (recreated from 5).	. 8
Figure 4. Traffic Mobility Performance Measure Used by Missouri DOT (6).	. 9
Figure 5. Evaluation Scores across All 50 States for the FHWA Work Zone Self-Assessment	
(WZ SA) (7)	13
Figure 6. Example of Sensor Speed Analysis to Determine Duration and Length of Queue	33
Figure 7. Alternative Work Zone Monitoring Approach for Non-TMC-Supported Highways	37
Figure 8. Effect of Queue Length on Average Delay (70-mph Roadways).	41
Figure 9. Effect of Queue Length on Average Delay (65-mph Roadways).	41
Figure 10. Effect of Queue Length on Delay (60-mph Roadways)	42
Figure 11. Effect of Work Zone Length on Average Delay.	
Figure 12. Randomness in Observed Work Zone Accident Counts.	44
Figure 13. ADT and Project Length Combinations that Allow Detection of Significant	
Increases in Crashes during the Project (Pre-Work Zone Rate of 0.5 Accidents/MVM)	46
Figure 14. ADT and Project Length Combinations that Allow Detection of Significant	
Increases in Crashes during the Project (Pre-Work Zone Rate of 1.0 Accidents/MVM)	47
Figure 15. ADT and Project Length Combinations that Allow Detection of Significant	
Increases in Crashes during the Project (Pre-Work Zone Rate of 1.5 Accidents/MVM)	47
Figure 16. ADT and Project Length Combinations that Allow Detection of Significant	
Increases in Crashes during the Project (Pre-Work Zone Rate of 2.0 Accidents/MVM)	48
Figure 17. ADT and Project Length Combinations that Allow Detection of Significant	
Increases in Crashes during the Project (Pre-Work Zone Rate of 3.0 Accidents/MVM)	48
Figure 18. ADT and Project Length Combinations that Allow Detection of Significant	
Increases in Crashes during the Project (Pre-Work Zone Rate of 4.0 Accidents/MVM)	49
Figure 19. Example of Trade-Off Analysis of Different Segment Lengths and Monitoring	
Periods (Pre-Work Zone Rate of 1.0 Accidents/MVM).	
Figure 20. Graphical Representation of Computational Steps 3 and 4	
Figure 21. Example of Safety Assessment Procedures	
Figure 22. Lane Closure Limits for San Antonio Pilot Test Site (11).	
Figure 23. Example of Speed Profile along Work Zone IH 35 Southbound (3/17/2008)	
Figure 24. Example of Speed Profile along Work Zone IH 35 Northbound (3/17/2008)	
Figure 25. Locations of Traffic Sensors and the IH 35 Test Site in San Antonio.	
Figure 26. Assessment of Possible Monitoring Levels of the SH 358 Project	/1

LIST OF TABLES

Page

Table 1. Traffic Performance Measures Considered by State DOTs	5
Table 2. Work Zone Self-Assessment Scoring Criteria.	. 12
Table 3. Recommended Work Zone Mobility Measures to Target.	. 21
Table 4. Recommended Work Zone Safety Measures to Target.	. 22
Table 5. Required Data Elements for Recommended Work Zone Performance Measures	. 24
Table 6. Unique Data Elements for Work Zone Performance Monitoring Program	. 28
Table 7. Availability of Required Data Elements using Traffic Surveillance Technologies in	
TMC-Supported Areas.	. 31
Table 8. Travel Time Computations from Sensor Speed in Example.	. 32
Table 9. Computations of Delay in Example.	
Table 10. Alternative Non-TMC-Supported Data Collection and Estimation Strategies	. 35
Table 11. Queue Length Documentation Form.	. 38
Table 12. Number of Accidents in Work Zone for Both Directions of Travel	. 55
Table 13. Queue Length Data Collected on 3/17/2008 at IH 35.	. 59
Table 14. Queue Length Data Collected on 3/20/2008 at IH 35.	
Table 15. Queue Length Data Collected on 3/27/2008 at IH 35.	
Table 16. Location of Sensor IDs at the IH 35 Site.	
Table 17. Queue Information Obtained from TxDOT Field Personnel.	
Table 18. Sample Analysis for Travel Time, Average Delay, and Total Delay for Collected D	
on 3/13/2008.	
Table 19. Summary of Lane Closure Data along IH 35 Southbound.	
Table 20. Comparison of Queue Lengths for Data Obtained from Travel Time Runs and Traff	
Sensor Data.	
Table 21. Comparison of Queue Lengths along IH 35 Southbound for Data Obtained from	
Traffic Sensors and Data Collected from TxDOT Field Personnel	. 68
Table 22. Traffic Data for Pilot Test Project.	
Table 23. Accident Data for Pilot Test Project (Control Section 0617-01; Milepoints 7.3 –	
10.6).	. 70
Table 24. Results of Computational Safety Analysis: Entire Work Zone; Both Directions	
Together; One-Month Monitoring.	. 74
Table 25. Results of Computational Safety Analysis: Entire Work Zone; Both Directions	
Together; Quarterly Monitoring.	. 75
Table 26. Results of Graphical Safety Analysis: Entire Work Zone; Both Directions Together	
One-Month Monitoring.	
Table 27. Results of Graphical Safety Analysis: Entire Work Zone; Both Directions Together	
Quarterly Monitoring.	
Table 28. Results of Computational Safety Analysis: MP 7.5 – 8.5; Both Directions Together	
One-Month Monitoring.	
Table 29. Results of Computational Safety Analysis: MP 8.5 – 9.5; Both Directions Together	
One-Month Monitoring.	
	. 00

Table 30. Results of Computational Safety Analysis: MP 9.5 – 10.5; Both Directions Together;	
One-Month Monitoring	
Table 31. Results of Computational Safety Analysis: MP 7.5 – 8.5; Both Directions Together;	
Quarterly Monitoring	ļ
Table 32. Results of Computational Safety Analysis: MP 8.5 – 9.5; Both Directions Together;	
Quarterly Monitoring	ļ
Table 33. Results of Computational Safety Analysis: MP 9.5 – 10.5; Both Directions Together;	
Quarterly Monitoring	i
Table 34. Results of Graphical Safety Analysis: MP 7.5 – 8.5; Both Directions Together; One-	
Month Monitoring	ł
Table 35. Results of Graphical Safety Analysis: MP 8.5 – 9.5; Both Directions Together; One-	
Month Monitoring	i
Table 36. Results of Graphical Safety Analysis: MP 9.5 – 10.5; Both Directions Together; One-	
Month Monitoring)
Table 37. Results of Graphical Safety Analysis: MP 7.5 – 8.5; Both Directions Together;	
Quarterly Monitoring	1
Table 38. Results of Graphical Safety Analysis: MP 8.5 – 9.5; Both Directions Together;	
Quarterly Monitoring	;
Table 39. Results of Graphical Safety Analysis: MP 9.5 – 10.5; Both Directions Together;	
Quarterly Monitoring)

INTRODUCTION

STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM

On September 9, 2004, the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) amended its regulation (23 CFR Part 630) that governs traffic safety and mobility in highway and street work zones (*1*). The new rule requires state departments of transportation (DOTs) to consider and establish three key components as part of an overall work zone safety and mobility program:

- the required implementation of an overall, state-level work zone safety and mobility policy;
- the development and implementation of standard processes and procedures to support policy implementation, including procedures for work zone impacts assessment, analyzing work zone data, training, and process reviews; and
- the development and implementation of procedures to assess and manage work zone impacts on individual projects.

One of the more challenging provisions in the rule is the requirement for states to collect and analyze both safety and mobility data to support the initiation and enhancement of agency-level processes and procedures addressing work zone impacts. Specifically, states are to develop and implement systematic procedures that assess work zone impacts in project development, and states need to manage safety and mobility during project implementation (1). In addition,

"States *shall* use field observations, available work zone crash data, and operational information to manage work zone impacts for specific projects during implementation. States shall continually pursue improvement of work zone safety and mobility by analyzing work zone crash and operational data from multiple projects to improve state processes and procedures. States should maintain elements of the data and information resources that are necessary to support these activities" (1).

This provision in the rule does not require states to necessarily collect new data during project implementation but to make use of whatever data they have available. However, FHWA does suggest that states may need to establish or improve processes to access, collate, and analyze that information to support safety and mobility policy activities (2). Furthermore, states are free to enhance whatever data they do collect to improve their evaluation and monitoring procedures. Obviously, the challenge facing TxDOT and other state DOTs is how to best measure and track safety and mobility impacts. Those activities need to support each agency's policy and procedural benchmarking and evaluation in a manner consistent with FHWA requirements.

PROJECT OBJECTIVES

The goal of this project was to identify and investigate methods and procedures that TxDOT could implement to meet the requirements of the FHWA work zone safety and mobility final rule. The specific objectives of this project were as follows:

- determine how available sources of information such as daily project inspector diaries, electronic traffic surveillance systems, and statewide crash records can be used to monitor work zone performance;
- determine what other data sources would be needed to monitor work zone safety and mobility;
- identify the most appropriate performance measures to use in monitoring work zone safety and mobility; and
- develop easy-to-implement procedures on how to compute those performance measures.

BACKGROUND

PREVIOUS EFFORTS TO MONITOR WORK ZONE PERFORMANCE

Overall, the use of performance measures in state DOTs is increasing and is currently being used to gauge agency efforts in the following areas:

- asset preservation,
- mobility and accessibility,
- operations and maintenance,
- safety,
- security,
- economic development,
- environmental,
- social, and
- transportation delivery.

In many instances, agencies monitor measures of output (e.g., number of motorist assists by a service patrol, service patrol miles patrolled per month, frequency of repairs to a device, etc.). There are a few examples of **outcome**-based performance measures being used (e.g., changes in pollution levels within a city, average travel times or travel time reliability on various routes in a region, or reductions in the number of hits on a gore area crash cushion). For the most part, output measures are easier to track for an agency and have the benefit of illustrating more directly the efforts of the agency in tackling a particular issue, which may have some public relations benefit. In addition, output measures are usually assumed to be related in some manner to desired outcomes, and so serve as surrogate indicators of outcome measures. The difficulty in this assumption is that actual correlations between agency output and desired outcomes do not always exist. A classic example of this is the correlation between actions to reduce speeds in work zones (such as the use of speed display trailers) and reduced crash likelihood. Although it is generally assumed that such techniques do improve safety through the reduction of crash severity to motorists, research has yet to be performed that verify this assumption. Even more importantly, the correlation of small speed reductions and reduced crash severity with workers have not been established, even though a common reason for selecting reduced speed limits and speed reduction devices is the perception that worker safety is improved.

Although performance measurement in general terms is a key theme within various departments of a transportation agency (such as TxDOT), a review of efforts in other states reveals only a limited number of examples related to the establishment and monitoring of work zone safety and mobility impacts. Most agencies compute delay, queuing, and road user costs at some level as part of their work zone planning and design procedures. However, efforts to actually measure travel and safety impacts during work zones have been extremely limited. Texas Transportation Institute (TTI) researchers contacted personnel in each of the other state DOTs and/or visited their websites to investigate work zone performance measures being used or contemplated.

Table 1 summarizes the measures used by these agencies in making decisions about how work zones are planned, installed, and managed over the course of the project. Essentially all of those agencies who mention a performance measure consider the possible impacts of a work zone via traffic volume-to-work zone capacity comparisons or application of macroscopic or microscopic traffic simulation analyses. If the computations indicate that a significant queue or delay will result, that particular work zone configuration is not considered further in planning or design. Some of the states did indicate that they monitor work zones to make sure the performance threshold (such as a maximum queue length or maximum delay time) does not exceed a preestablished threshold. If conditions do get worse than expected, the agency may terminate the work activity (typically a lane closure) to allow traffic congestion to disperse. However, no agency indicated that it deliberately recorded and tracked the frequency or severity of such events (although it may be possible to manually review project diary entries to locate such events).

Although several states indicate the consideration of mobility and safety measures in their decision-making process for traffic management planning and design, only a handful attempt to record and track data from the field during actual work zone operations. Some states do track such items as a percent of projects on schedule based on construction progress estimates and funding expenditures, such as the example from Florida DOT shown in Figure 1 (3). Similarly, the Florida Highway Patrol (FHP) keeps detailed records on its work zone enforcement efforts, tracking stops, citations, and other indicators as shown in Figure 2 (4). The data summarized in Figure 2 are output measures of performance reflecting the amount of FHP's efforts expended at work zones. Conversely, the measures in Figure 1 reflect efforts by district personnel and highway contractors to keep projects on schedule and so are outcome measures of performance (e.g., an output measure for this graph might be: amount of overtime work expended to keep a project on time).

Examples of efforts to track travel safety and mobility measures throughout the duration of a project are more difficult to come by. Most states do report monitoring the number of fatalities that occur in their work zones annually. Unfortunately, the agencies acknowledge that without exposure data to normalize these numbers, changes in crash frequencies from year to year are difficult to interpret. One state, Ohio, manually collects police accident reports every two weeks from high-profile projects in its jurisdiction and compares to crashes during construction to the three-year average existing before the project began (5). Ohio DOT (ODOT) staff scrutinize those segments where the current work zone crash rate is much higher than the three-year average, believing the higher crash rate is an indicator of potential traffic management. ODOT recently began requiring entrance ramps to be closed whenever acceleration lanes could not be maintained during construction, based in large part on dramatic increases in crash rates observed at reduced-acceleration lane ramps identified through this procedure. Figure 3 illustrates an example of the work zone crash monitoring activities by ODOT.

		Measure	Considered	1
Agency	Time	Queue	Traffic	Crash
	Delay	Length	Volumes	Rate
Arizona DOT	Yes	Yes		
Arkansas State Highway and	Yes			
Transportation Department	i es			
California DOT	Yes			
Connecticut DOT				Yes
Florida DOT			Yes	
Georgia DOT				Yes
Indiana DOT	Yes	Yes		
Kentucky Transportation		Yes		
Cabinet		res		
Louisiana Department of				
Transportation and	Yes			
Development				
Maine DOT	Yes			
Maryland State Highway	Yes	Yes		
Administration	105	105		
Massachusetts DOT	Yes			
Missouri DOT	Yes			
New Hampshire DOT			Yes	
New York State DOT			Yes	
North Carolina DOT		Yes		
North Dakota DOT	Yes			
Ohio DOT			Yes	
Oregon DOT				Yes
Pennsylvania DOT				Yes
South Dakota DOT	Yes			
Tennessee DOT		Yes		Yes
Wisconsin DOT	Yes	Yes		
Wyoming DOT	Yes			

 Table 1. Traffic Performance Measures Considered by State DOTs.

	-			tracts that]	Reached "PA	SS" Status Th	Contracts that Reached "PASS" Status Through This Quarter	arter	-		
Total Original% TimeContractIncrease ofContractOriginalAmountDays	% Time Increase of Original Days	<u>.</u>	% Contracts < 20% Increase in Time	% Cost Increase over Original Amount	% Contracts <10% Increase in Cost	% Total CEI Cost of Present Amount	Total Avoidable Premium Cost	Avoidable Cost % of Original Contract Amount	Avoidable Time % of Original Days	Days from Final Acceptance to Initial Offer	Days from Final Acceptance to Project Passed
T2-CN-7.3	T2-CN-7.3			T2-CN- 7.2		T2-CN-7.1		T2-CN-6.1	T2-CN-6.1		T2-CN-2.3
\$330,849,236 21.5	21.5		74.0	4.0	86.5	8.6	\$131,415.38	0.0	1.6	101	351
\$271,513,619 20.7	20.7		71.4	9.4	82.9	5.2	\$174,742.69	0.1	2.9	09	219
\$127,721,846 26.6	26.6		58.3	9.3	75.0	11.9	\$308,949.32	0.2	5.6	36	616
\$187,827,161 1.0	1.0		77.8	6.0	88.9	13.3	\$1,335,460.62	0.7	2.6	44	207
\$147,290,934 12.1	12.1		79.0	4.7	83.9	7.1	\$435,462.64	0.3	1.6	25	138
\$125,051,816 -3.8	-3.8		90.2	1.9	92.7	9.8	\$28,205.48	0.0	0.4	39	111
\$329,704,750 17.0	17.0		61.6	6.5	76.9	9.1	\$1,322,946.59	0.4	4.4	43	282
\$15,393,123 7.8	7.8		75.0	-9.1	100.0	6.8	\$ -	0.0	2.8	31	188
\$1,535,352,485 13.6	13.6		73.9	5.9	84.5	8.9	\$3,737,182.72	0.2	2.6	57	258
20.0	20.0			10.0		12.0		1.0	5.0	30	275

Figure 1. Construction Progress Measures from Florida DOT (recreated from 3).

FLORIDA HIGHWAY PATROL

HIREBACK TROOP SUMMARY QUARTERLY REPORT TOTALS

July 2006-September 2006

E	_			Writ	Written Warnings	ings	Asst	Crash	F/E			Arrests	ests			E
1 r 0 0 p	Expenditures	HOULS	MILLES	HOV	Speed	Other	Rend	Invest	Notices	Seatbelt	Speed	DUI	Other	HOV	TOLL	1 0 1 2 1
Α	\$57,430.76	2,448.50	22,166	0	270	117	373	91	193	62	399	4	259	0	0	724
В	\$9,939.11	300.50	3,461	0	21	7	47	3	5	3	54	1	4	0	0	62
C	\$21,218.68	514.50	8,455	0	91	18	67	2	37	57	540	14	212	0	0	823
D	\$30,693.48	973.50	13,652	3	82	112	152	11	45	13	104	8	110	0	0	235
Щ	\$35,957.84	1046.00	11,737	78	256	95	68	10	156	150	674	0	605	0	0	1,429
G	\$72,216.56	2,210.50	31,513	0	422	587	111	33	411	423	1,781	3	196	0	0	3,168
Н	\$21,577.72	671.50	14,459	0	120	39	11	4	20	29	150	0	09	0	0	239
К	\$148,544.62	4,511.75	55,324	13	220	394	722	35	230	123	873	0	493	4	30	1,523
L	\$260,536.97	5,836.50	58,913	387	1,468	788	1,217	71	LSL	654	2,996	26	3,418	41	0	7,135
Grand Total	\$676,115.74	18,513.25	219,680	481	2,950	2,157	2,798	260	1,884	1,514	7,571	56	6,122	45	30	15,338

Figure 2. Work Zone Enforcement Efforts by the Florida Highway Patrol (recreated from 4).



Figure 3. Ohio DOT Work Zone Safety Performance Measures (recreated from 5).

With regards to traffic mobility performance measures, the Missouri DOT (MoDOT) reportedly conducts regular reviews of its work zones statewide and compares the traffic conditions existing at those work zones with their expectations from traffic analyses made earlier in the work zone planning and design process (6). Figure 4 shows an example of this performance measure. Preliminary discussions with MoDOT staff indicate that these observations are qualitative rather than quantitative in nature. In addition, the relationship between "meeting expectations" and amounts and durations of delay and congestion are not immediately apparent.



Figure 4. Traffic Mobility Performance Measure Used by Missouri DOT (6).

At the federal level, FHWA began tracking state DOT output levels of performance related to work zone safety and mobility in 2003 (7). FHWA is conducting annual self-assessment surveys of actions being taken to address work zone safety and mobility concerns in work zones. Six areas of emphasis are targeted, with questions underneath each area designed to explore level of agency commitment to the topic. Emphasis areas and questions used to gauge efforts within those areas are as follows:

- Leadership and policy:
 - Has the agency developed a process to determine whether a project is impact types I, II, or III?
 - Has the agency established strategic goals specifically to reduce congestion and delay in work zones?
 - Has the agency established strategic goals specifically to reduce crashes in work zones?
 - Has the agency established measures (e.g., vehicle throughput, queue length, etc.) to track work zone congestion and delay?
 - Has the agency established measures (e.g., crash rates, etc.) to track work zone crashes?
 - Has the agency established a policy for the development of Transportation Management Plans to reduce congestion and crashes due to work zones?
 - Has the agency established work zone performance guidance that addresses: maximum queue lengths, number of open lanes, maximum traveler delay, etc.?
 - Has the agency established criteria to support the use of project execution strategies (e.g., night work and full closure) to reduce public exposure to work zones and reduce the duration of work zones?

- Has the agency developed policies to support the use of innovative contracting strategies to reduce contract performance periods?
- Has the agency established Memoranda of Understanding (MOUs) between utility suppliers that promote the proactive coordination of long range transportation plans with long range utility plans to reduce project delays and minimize the number of work zones on the highway?
- Project programming and planning:
 - Does the agency's planning process actively use analytical traffic modeling programs to determine the impact of future types I and II road construction and maintenance activities on network performance?
 - Does the agency's planning process include developing alternative network options (e.g., frontage roads, increased capacity on parallel arterials, beltways, strategically placed connectors, etc.) to maintain projected traffic volumes due to future road construction and maintenance activities?
 - Does the agency's planning process manage the transportation improvement program to eliminate future network congestion due to poorly prioritized and uncoordinated execution of projects?
 - Does the agency's transportation planning process include a planning cost estimate review for work types I, II, and III that accounts for traffic management costs (e.g., incident management, public information campaigns, positive separation elements, uniformed law enforcement, intelligent transportation systems [ITS], etc.)?
 - Does the agency's transportation planning process include active involvement from the planners during the project design stage to assist in the development of congestion mitigation strategies for types I and II projects?
 - Does the agency's transportation planning process engage the planners as part of a multidisciplinary/multi-agency team in the development of Transportation Management Plans involving major corridor improvements?
- Project design:
 - During project design, does the agency have a process to estimate and use road user costs to evaluate and select, based on road user costs or project strategies (e.g., full closure, night work traffic management alternatives, detours, etc.) for work types I and II projects?
 - During project design, does the agency develop a Transportation Management Plan that addresses all operational impacts specifically focused on project congestion for work types I and II projects?
 - During project design, does the agency use multi-disciplinary teams consisting of agency staff to develop Transportation Management Plans for types I and II projects?
 - During project design, does the agency perform constructability reviews that include project strategies intended to reduce congestion and traveler delays during construction and maintenance activities for types I and II projects?
 - During project design, does the agency use independent contractors or contractor associations to provide construction process input to expedite project contract time for types I and II projects?
 - During project design, does the agency use time- and performance-based scheduling techniques such as Critical Path Method or parametric models to determine contract performance times for work types I and II projects?

- During project design, does the agency have a process to evaluate the appropriate use of ITS technologies to minimize congestion in and around work zones for types I, II, and III projects?
- During project design, does the agency have a process to consider the use of life cycle costing in selecting materials that reduce the frequency and duration of work zones for types I, II, and III projects?
- Does the agency have a process to assess projects for the use of positive separation devices for types I and II projects?
- During project design, does the agency anticipate and design projects to mitigate future congestion impacts due to repair and maintenance activities for types I, II, and III projects?
- In developing the Traffic Control Plan for a project, does the agency use contractor involvement in the development of the Traffic Control Plan for types I and II projects?
- In developing the Traffic Control Plan for a project, does the agency use computer modeling to assess Traffic Control Plan impacts on traffic flow characteristics (e.g., speed, delay, capacity, etc.) for types I and II projects?
- Project construction and operation:
 - Is the letting schedule altered or optimized to reflect the available resources and capabilities of the construction industry?
 - Is the letting schedule altered or optimized to minimize disruptions to major traffic corridors?
 - In bidding types I and II projects, does the agency include road user costs in establishing incentives or disincentives to minimize road user delay due to work zones (e.g., I/D, A+B, Lane Rental, etc.)?
 - In bidding types I, II, and III contracts, does the agency use performance-based selection to eliminate contractors who consistently demonstrate their inability to complete a quality job within the contract time?
 - In bidding types I and II project contracts, does the agency use incident management services (e.g., wrecker, push vehicles, service patrols, etc.)?
 - In bidding contracts, does the agency use flexible starting provisions after the Notice to Proceed is issued?
 - o During project types I, II, and III, does the agency use uniformed law enforcement?
 - Does the agency provide/require training of contractor staff on the proper layout and use of traffic control devices?
 - Does the agency provide training to uniformed law enforcement personnel on work zone devices and layouts?
- Communication and outreach:
 - Does the agency maintain and update a work zone website providing timely and relevant traveler impact information for project types I, II, and III that allows travelers to effectively make travel plans?
 - Does the agency sponsor National Work Zone Awareness week?
 - Does the agency assume a proactive role in work zone educational efforts?
 - During types I, II, and III project construction, does the agency use a public information plan that provides for specific and timely project information to the traveling public through a variety of outreach techniques (e.g., agency website, newsletters, public meetings, radio, and other media outlets)?
 - During types I, II, and III projects, does the agency use ITS technologies to collect and disseminate information to motorists and agency personnel on work zone conditions?

- Program evaluation:
 - Does the agency collect data to track work zone congestion and delay in accord with agency established work zone congestion and delay measures?
 - Does the agency collect data to track work zone safety performance in accord with agency work zone crash measures?
 - Does the agency conduct customer surveys to evaluate work zone traffic management practices and policies on a statewide/area-wide basis?
 - Does agency develop strategies to improve work zone performance based on work zone performance data and customer surveys?

As suggested in Table 2, respondents rate their level of effort from 0 (no efforts or consideration being given to that issue) to 15 (issue is fully considered and addressed as a matter of normal operating procedures within the agency).

Adoption Phase	Scoring Range	Description
Initiation	(0-3)	Agency has acknowledged a need for this item and supports further development of the requirements of this item.
Development	(4-6)	Agency has developed a plan or approach to address requirements of this item.
Execution	(7-9)	Agency has executed an approach to meet requirements of this item.
Assessment	(10-12)	Agency has assessed the performance of this item.
Integration	(13-15)	Agency has integrated the requirements of this item into agency culture and practices.

 Table 2. Work Zone Self-Assessment Scoring Criteria.

Figure 5 provides a summary of average ratings across the 50 states and across the various questions for each emphasis area. Specific responses from individual states are not available, to guard against state-by-state comparisons. Again, one of the major challenges with this type of performance measure is getting a comparative response between states. Two states may be doing almost exactly the same types of things under a given emphasis area, but one gives itself a "5" while the other gives itself an "8." Even more problematic is the natural tendency of longitudinal data collection efforts such as this to naturally escalate scores over time regardless of whether actions are improving (or improving by the amount indicated in the higher score). The increasing scores shown in Figure 5, while desirable, may or may not reflect true improvements in state agency efforts or actions when measured on some type of absolute, objective scale.



Figure 5. Evaluation Scores across All 50 States for the FHWA Work Zone Self-Assessment (WZ SA) (7).

FHWA is also currently supporting initiatives to monitor traffic performance on major roadways in various regions where real-time traffic information is available (δ). These efforts are fairly extensive undertakings, based on millions of megabytes of sensor data and other data sources. Recently, individuals and agencies involved with these performance measurement efforts have begun to try and assess how much of the delay and congestion being experienced over the current or most recent time period is attributable to various forms of non-recurrent conditions (e.g., incidents, weather, and work zones).

As part of implementation support of the new work zone safety and mobility rule, FHWA has been looking into appropriate performance measures to suggest to states, both output and outcome-based measures. An initial preliminary list of measures is divided among 13 different categories, as shown below:

- Traffic demand/usage/exposure:
 - Annual Average Daily Traffic AADT
 - o Truck percentages
 - Peak period traffic demands (AM, PM)
 - Average and total nighttime traffic volumes

- o Average and total weekend traffic volume
- Vehicle miles traveled (VMT) through work zone
- Percent of VMT through work zone when lane(s) closed
- Percent truck VMT passing through work zones
- Throughput:
 - Maximum hourly throughput volume
 - o Total capacity loss in work zone
 - Capacity loss per work zone mile
- Mobility:
 - Total vehicle delay
 - Average vehicle delay during peak periods, daily
 - Vehicle delay due to work zone(s) alone during peak periods, daily
 - o Work zone delay per vehicle per peak period and per day
 - Work zone travel time index during peak period and per day
 - o Percent of daily traffic experiencing congestion in work zones
 - Percent of day that congestion in work zone is "mild" (and length of congestion)
 - Percent of day that congestion in work zone is "severe" (and length of congestion)
 - Maximum queue length at work zone
 - Duration with queue length greater than some threshold (e.g., 0.5 mile)
- Reliability:
 - 95th percentile travel time index
 - Work zone buffer time index
- Safety:
 - Total fatalities
 - o Total injuries
 - Highway workers killed and injured
 - o Crash rates per 100 million VMT
 - Crash rates per work zone
 - Increase in rates relative to non-work zone conditions
 - o Speed and enforcement surrogates
 - Percent of vehicles exceeding speed limit
 - Speed variability
- Roadway characteristics

- Work zone characteristics:
 - Number of work zones by roadway type, within region
 - o Miles of work zone by roadway type in region
 - Lane-miles lost to work zones in region
 - Lane-mile lost rate (lane-miles lost per work zone)
 - Lane-mile hours lost in region
 - Peak period lane-mile hours lost in region
 - Shoulder miles lost in region
 - Matrix of lane miles lost by number of lanes originally on roadway
 - Foot-miles of lane width reductions
 - o Average duration by work zone type by number of lanes lost
- Work zone activities:
 - Average and total work zone duration by type of work zone
 - Ratio of inactive to active days (some work performed in 24-hour period)
 - Inactive capacity loss ratio (time of inactive lane closures/total project duration)
 - Night activity to daylight activity ratio
 - Average number of traffic control plan changes per work zone
- Other events in the work zone:
 - Frequency of incidents in work zones
 - Median and total duration of incidents occurring in work zone
 - Median duration of incident blockage time in work zone
 - o Lane-hours lost due to incidents
- Customer satisfaction:
 - Percentage of survey respondents rating work zone management as "poor"
 - Percentage of survey respondents who think work zones are much less safe than normal highways
 - Percentage of respondents who have experienced excessive delays in rural work zones
 - Percent of respondents who rate work zones as primary source of travel delay
 - Percent of time respondents were aware of work zones prior to making trips
- Highway durability:
 - Average time between work zone activity on roadway segments in region
- Project construction and planning
- Construction productivity

Ultimately, several of these measurement categories are interrelated. For example, traffic demand, vehicle throughput, roadway characteristics, and work zone characteristics all influence the mobility measures listed. Meanwhile, those same measures combined with work activity information ultimately relate to how work zones influence travel reliability. In many cases, the "measures" are actually data needed to estimate and stratify the mobility impacts that a work zone may create.

IDENTIFYING TXDOT WORK ZONE PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT GOALS AND OBJECTIVES

TTI researchers created a telephone and email-based survey to gain insight into the current practices used by various TxDOT districts to monitor safety and performance in work zones and opinions regarding measures that TxDOT personnel would like to see or could see using in the future. Researchers targeted 20 traffic, construction, design, and area engineers in nine districts for the survey. Emails and follow-up telephone calls yielded ten surveys from seven of those districts. The following is a summary of the key findings from that survey.

All districts consider potential work zone impacts on mobility and safety during project planning and design.

Generally speaking, traffic control plan designers evaluate traffic-handling approaches for a particular work zone project or phase on the basis of expected traffic demands and expected work zone capacity to determine if the alternative is feasible. Long-term lane closures are generally avoided if the peak-period traffic volumes are expected to be higher than the reduced work zone capacity. Short-duration and short-term lane closures during off-peak periods are then allowed, usually restricted to nighttime hours in high-volume urban areas. For larger projects, designers may calculate road user costs to establish accelerated construction provisions of the contract. However, none of the predictions made during these analyses are verified or refuted once the work zone is put in place. One respondent did note that actually monitoring work zone conditions in the field would be useful in determining how accurate and reasonable their planning and design assessment procedures are and whether those procedures need to be modified in some fashion.

Most district personnel were not familiar with the FHWA work zone safety and mobility final rule.

It was clear through the survey that field personnel were not highly concerned with the intent or the specifics of the rulemaking at the time of the interviews. Some respondents stated that they expected that the ramifications of the rule would be passed down through TxDOT administration in the form of policy memorandums and directives on what exactly they will need to do to be in compliance. It should be noted that TxDOT did issue updated guidance pertaining to this issue in July 2007, four months prior to the implementation date of October 2007 required by FHWA.

Some work zone performance monitoring already occurs but varies significantly from district to district.

Most respondents viewed the Form 599 inspection process as their key performance monitoring data collection activity, even though the form is used to address traffic control device deficiencies such as placement, device condition, lack of reflectivity, etc., and not as a data collection instrument. Districts with ITS infrastructure reported that they monitored traffic conditions on their instrumented roadways and that work zones on those roadways received real-time monitoring as well. However, these data are not currently retained or analyzed explicitly for the purpose of evaluating how the work zone is or was impacting travel on that route. Rather, the monitoring is done to identify other problems, such as crashes or vehicle stalls, that may occur in the work zone and which should be managed through dispatch of motorist assistance patrols and display of messages on upstream dynamic message signs. The emphasis is on real-time impact mitigation. Rural districts did not envision much of a need for monitoring conditions in their work zones due to the lower traffic volumes present on most roadways.

At the district and area office levels, goals and objectives for work zone performance monitoring are to avoid creating any "bad" situations either in terms of significantly higher crash likelihood or excessive motorist delays.

Some of the district personnel indicated a desire to have no crashes in the work zone but recognized that this goal is unlikely to be fully attainable. Other districts, typically those in urban areas, indicated a desire to ensure "high vehicle throughput" and "good progression" through the work zone so as to minimize delays (in addition to minimizing crashes). It was noted that the majority of projects under TxDOT jurisdiction in rural areas do not have the potential to create significant mobility impacts. Similarly, the lower traffic volumes at these types of projects will translate into a relatively small number of additional crashes that may be attributable to the work zone and thus would not raise concerns. All districts reported investigating fatal crashes that occurred in the work zones, regardless of whether it was an urban or rural location and/or a lower-volume or higher-volume facility. Districts typically designate someone to retrieve crash reports from local authorities to be reviewed by appropriate district personnel so that any improvements in traffic control that are needed at a particular project can be identified and corrections made. The reports are also saved for reference in case of future litigation. Typically, however, the crash reports themselves are not collated in a manner for formalized subsequent analysis.

District personnel envision that work zone performance monitoring and measurement will involve the monitoring of a variety of data sources, including crashes, delays, queuing and/or the extent of congestion, speeds, and speed reductions.

One respondent indicated a concern about how performance measures might be misused or improperly interpreted. The example given was the completion of a work activity or project that can be accomplished much quicker with a traffic control approach that causes a higher level of individual delays but over a very short period of time. Another traffic control approach might require a greater number of days to complete but would yield slightly lower delays to individuals passing through the work zone. Although total delay created may be less in the first case, so would the maximum delay that individual drivers would experience. Consequently, it would not be clear which alternative is preferable.

Some (but not all) district personnel see potential benefit to having performance measures that allow comparison of one work zone to the next. However, indiscriminate use of measures (especially those using some type of "hard" score or threshold) would be counterproductive to ensuring good mobility and safety in work zones.

Work zone performance is highly subjective and influenced by a number of factors. What might be an important statistic for one district might not be important for another. Still, respondents did recognize that some sort of standardization of measures would be necessary, as well as stratification of measures of various work zones on such variables as average daily traffic (ADT) or roadway characteristics.

In summary, the general approach taken by TxDOT personnel is to set up work zones based on TxDOT standards, previous successes, and engineering judgment, and assume that it will work because it has worked in the past. The extent of formal monitoring is limited to the 599 forms, traffic control reviews performed periodically, and safety reviews of accidents that occur in work zones. Based on the results of these surveys, performance monitoring in work zones is currently more of a qualitative endeavor, with changes only occurring when there seems to be a problem. One qualitative measure that was repeatedly mentioned by respondents was the number of complaint phone calls an agency or district received. If a number (around three for a rural district was a rough estimate given as an example) of citizens call and complain about a particular work zone, agencies take these complaints as a sign that something is wrong and that the work zone needs to be reevaluated. Decision makers do care about performance measures for work zones in a quantitative sense but are also concerned that efforts to monitor and measure work zone performance not require field personnel to collect a large amount of additional data that will not be useful to them in how they manage day-to-day operations of the work zone.

DEFINING A WORK ZONE SAFETY AND MOBILITY MONITORING PLAN

IDENTIFYING SUITABLE PERFORMANCE MEASURES

Mobility-Based Performance Measures

In general terms, the decision of the fundamental traffic control strategy to be used for a particular project is either between:

- closing one or more travel lanes on a long-term basis while work is completed, or
- requiring the number of travel lanes be maintained in the work zone through temporary or permanent additions to the travel pavement and/or the reduction of lane widths within work areas.

For most high-volume roadway projects, agencies typically follow the latter approach. The phasing and sequencing of work required to complete the project are then matched with traffic control requirements needed to safely guide motorists through the work zone itself. The approach may also entail geometric changes such as long-term lane shifts, shoulder and lane width restrictions, and ramp closures. For the most part, such traffic control features will normally have only minor influences on traffic mobility (travel times, stops, etc.). In fact, the mobility impacts due to these work zone features may be less than the normal day-to-day variability in conditions caused by random traffic demand fluctuations, and changes in capacity resulting from differences in weather, driver mix, etc. The influences of individual work zone design elements (and combinations thereof) upon safety are generally not as well understood, however.

In addition to these long-term work zone influences on traffic conditions, it is usually necessary to occasionally close one or more lanes of traffic on a temporary basis during each project. Such temporary closures may be very sporadic, required only when it is necessary to change traffic control for a project phase change, or a necessity required on a daily or nightly basis to remove, replace, and/or overlay pavement. Other projects may be a hybrid of sporadic closures during some phases of the project, and regular temporary off-peak day or night lane closures during other phases. If the work crew closes travel lanes when the traffic demand is less than the reduced work zone capacity, the mobility impacts are again minimal. However, if the volumes exceed the reduced capacity through the work zone during all or part of the closure, queues and substantial travel delays develop. It is these queues and resulting travel delays that are the main source of frustration to motorists. More importantly, these conditions are those which TxDOT personnel try to minimize and/or manage through decisions about the number of lanes allowed to be closed by the contractor, time periods when such closures are allowed, and efforts to promote driver diversion to other routes so as to reduce traffic demands.

While emphasis is on minimizing the impacts of the work upon travel mobility, the actual project management decisions are made by trying to balance this desire to minimize impacts with the

needs of the contractor or maintenance crew to complete the work in a timely and cost-effective manner. For many (if not most) projects, work activities that require lane closures can be limited to periods of lower traffic volume and thereby avoid creating significant mobility impacts. However, in other locations, traffic volumes are so high that there are few (if any) hours when lanes can be closed without creating queues and delays. Further complicating matters is the fact that the work activities that need to be completed often require a minimum lane closure duration in order to be cost-effective for the contractor to initiate efforts.

This trade-off assessment, which occurs continuously throughout the duration of each project, has significant ramifications upon efforts to establish meaningful performance measures that properly reflect the impacts upon travel mobility. Most importantly, this means that project location and the type and extent of work that the contractor must accomplish as part of the project, neither of which are under the control of the project engineer and inspectors providing oversight of the project, may dramatically influence the impacts on mobility in an absolute sense. Two projects on two different facilities may be managed in ways such that the impacts on mobility in one case reflect a number of poor decisions by contractors and inspector personnel, but in the other case, reflect the best decisions possible under the roadway and traffic conditions that exist at that location. Despite these differences between a "good" and a "bad" project (from the perspective of how traffic was managed), both could end up yielding the same amount of traffic delay, queues, and degradation in travel time reliability.

This issue is recognized in the new TxDOT policy and guidelines for traffic safety in work zones, which state that districts are to give special attention to significant projects so as to not create work zone impacts greater than what the district assesses as "tolerable." Consequently, it makes sense that the way in which a district chooses to define "tolerable" should be explicitly captured in at least some of the performance measures used to assess mobility and safety impacts. In other states, common indicators of "tolerable" include maximum individual motorist delays (15-20 minutes is common) as well as queue lengths and/or durations (Ohio DOT uses a combination of queue length and duration).

Taking these points into consideration, Table 3 presents the research team's recommendations of the mobility-related work zone performance measures that would be of most value to practitioners, along with some justifications for the recommendations. The measures address both the breadth and depth of possible impacts. Conceptually, the measures are described at the project level of monitoring. It is expected that the measures themselves can then be collated by roadway type, project type, area, or district as aggregate indicators of work zone safety and mobility performance. Furthermore, a distinction is recommended between total impacts that are generated and those which exceed what is defined as "tolerable" by TxDOT. A few possible thresholds are suggested in Table 3, but these suggestions should be adjusted based on location and characteristics of the project(s) of interest.

Not all of the measures will be equally available or calculable, depending on the location and type of a project. However, researchers believe that the recommended measures will provide decision-makers with the type of information needed to evaluate agency processes and procedures. In addition, the data could be combined in other ways, such as across projects done by a particular highway contractor, to aid tracking of underperforming entities (with regard to

traffic impacts generated) and identify those whose scheduling may need to be scrutinized in greater detail.

	ne Mobility Measures to Target.
Performance Measure	Justification for Inclusion
 Total Delay (vehicle-hours): Average per hour of daytime lane closures Average per hour of nighttime lane closures Average per hour of weekend lane closures % of total delays occurring when average vehicle delay exceeds 20 minutes per vehicle % of total delays occurring when lane closure queue lengths exceed 0.5 mile 	Delays are generated predominantly by lane closures, and number of closures required varies from project to project. Usually, lane closures can be moved to night/weekends if volumes during the day will cause lane closures to create impacts that are not tolerable. Averages can be multiplied by hours of such closures per project and across projects in a region (if necessary) to estimate aggregate totals. Average vehicle delay and queue lengths are common indicators of tolerable levels of impacts.
 Per hour of daytime lane closures Per hour of nighttime lane closures Per hour of weekend lane closures % of lane closure hours when average delays exceed 20 minutes per vehicle 	Similar justification as above.
 Queuing Caused by Lane Closures: Average length per hour of daytime lane closures Average length per hour of nighttime lane closures Average length per hour of weekend lane closures % of daytime lane closure hours creating a queue % of nighttime lane closure hours creating a queue % of weekend lane closure hours creating a queue % of daytime lane closure hours creating a queue % of daytime lane closure hours creating a queue % of daytime lane closure hours creating a queue % of daytime lane closure hours creating a queue > 0.5 mile % of weekend lane closure hours creating a queue > 0.5 mile 	Queue lengths are likely to be the main measure that can be reasonably recorded by field personnel when traffic surveillance (portable work zone, permanent regional intelligent transportation system technology) is not available for use to monitor the work zone(s). A queue length greater than 0.5 mile is sometimes used as a threshold of acceptable or tolerable congestion due to work zone lane closures. Excessive queue lengths can disrupt travel patterns on ramps and roadways far upstream of the work zone.
 Changes in Buffer Index: During peak periods During off-peak periods During nighttime periods During weekend periods 	Degradation in travel time reliability is a main complaint about work zones by the motoring public. This measure captures both the magnitude of travel time increases over the course of the project and the frequency of these changes.

Table 3. Recommended Work Zone Mobility Measures to Target.

During weekend periods
Values shaded in table above would be changed to reflect local district definition of what constitutes intolerable impacts.

Safety-Based Performance Measures

Table 4 lists a set of recommended safety measures of performance for work zones targeted in this study. One of the biggest challenges to attempting such exploration had been the lack of available crash data because of delays in getting the new TxDOT Crash Records Information System (CRIS) up and running (CRIS has sent been brought online to alleviate this challenge). At a project level, methods for estimating the changes in crash likelihood due to the work zone (and during various periods within the overall duration of the project) are fairly well known, as long as the project is of sufficient length and duration that adequate numbers of crashes are available for analysis. Methods of combining the effects of multiple projects upon crashes by work zone type and work activity (e.g., periods of work activity with and without lane closures required, periods of work inactivity, etc.) are also available. However, it has been noted that field personnel desire to use crash data as a way of assessing the effectiveness and safety of work zone design elements and/or operating strategies. Given that design elements and operating strategies do not exist in isolation, but are interrelated to other design elements and strategies occurring upstream (and possibly downstream) of the element location, the amount of variability in crash effects when attempting to evaluate the elements and strategies can be quite high. The ramification of higher variability is the need for larger sample sizes (number of projects and crashes within the projects) in order to identify statistical significance in any differences found.

Tuble II Recommended Work Zone Surety Redustres to Turgen				
Performance Measure	Justification for Inclusion			
Increase in crash rates per MVM or crash likelihood by	Crash rates are standard safety measures used in			
project type, roadway type, and work period for:	numerous studies in the literature. Crash rates are			
• Fatalities,	simpler to use and estimate, but are less precise than			
• Injuries, and/or	approaches using crash frequencies.			
Property damage only.				
Identification of projects experiencing crash rate				
increases greater than those normally expected or				
tolerable by TxDOT				
Increase in crash rate or likelihood when a specific	TxDOT personnel envision this type of			
design element or combination thereof is used in a	performance measure has substantial benefit for			
project	determining improvements in work zone design			
	features.			

Table 4. Recommended Work Zone Safety Measures to Target.

The questions of crash data and project data sample size adequacy notwithstanding, there also remains the issue of identifying design or strategy elements that are potential safety concerns. For the most part, analyses of projects will occur post hoc where the combined effect of multiple design elements, some possibly changing over time, along with operational strategies and other influences affecting the overall crash history experienced at the site are estimated. At the present time, no clear mechanism is available to allow subsequent analyses of possible safety concerns of a particular design element or combination of elements. The only place such elements are documented is in the set of construction plans prepared for the project. If agency personnel can identify an element or element combination a priori as a focus of analysis, projects occurring with the element(s) can be flagged, monitored, and the changes in crashes occurring at a collection of projects with the same element can be compared to projects without those elements present. However, analysts performing post-hoc analyses will not usually have specific work

zone design feature information available to them, and so be less able to identify which element or elements may be responsible for any crash increases observed.

DEFINING NECESSARY DATA REQUIREMENTS

Table 5 summarizes the relationships between recommended performance measures and required data elements. Table 6 lists unique data requirements needed to execute a work zone performance monitoring program that encompasses all of the mobility and safety-related measures in Table 5. Researchers used both tables to identify and evaluate alternative data collection and analysis strategies. In certain locations, existing traffic data infrastructure (e.g., loop detectors, microwave sensors, automatic vehicle identification [AVI] technologies) is available to collect and estimate some of the required data elements. These technologies are in their widest use in urbanized areas with traffic management centers (TMCs) and are less common and virtually non-existent in smaller urban areas and rural locations. In areas with existing data collection infrastructure, the focus is primarily major commuter routes; other major routes may or may not be covered. In addition, construction activities may interrupt the functionality of spot-sensors and other technologies. Data collection and analysis requirements will vary directly with the amount of existing infrastructure coverage. The differences are primarily relevant to estimating recommended mobility measures (e.g., delay, queuing, and reliability). Therefore, mobility performance monitoring approaches were identified for work zones on roadways with and without existing data collection capabilities (referred to as TMCsupported and non-TMC-supported approaches for the remainder of this project). Researchers also developed general safety monitoring approaches applicable to any location.

Table 5. Required D	red Data Elemen	ata Elements for Recommended Work Zone Performance Measures.
Performance Measure	Units	Data Requirements
Total delay, average (by hour) due to work zone during daytime lane closures	Vehicle-Minutes	Segment termini, start and end dates and times of lane closures, free-flow/desired speed, actual speed (by hour) prior to work zone, actual speed (by hour) during lane closure [OR free-flow/desired travel time, actual travel time (by hour) prior to work zone, actual travel time (by hour) during lane closure], volume (by hour) prior to work zone, volume (by hour) during lane closure
Total delay, average (by hour) due to work zone during nighttime lane closures	Vehicle-Minutes	Segment termini, start and end dates and times of lane closures, free-flow/desired speed, actual speed (by hour) prior to work zone, actual speed (by hour) during lane closure [OR free-flow/desired travel time, actual travel time (by hour) prior to work zone, actual travel time (by hour) during lane closure], volume (by hour) prior to work zone, volume (by hour) during lane closure
Total delay, average (by hour) due to work zone during weekend lane closures	Vehicle-Minutes	Segment termini, start and end dates and times of lane closures, free-flow/desired speed, actual speed (by hour) prior to work zone, actual speed (by hour) during lane closure [OR free-flow/desired travel time, actual travel time (by hour) prior to work zone, actual travel time (by hour) during lane closure], volume (by hour) prior to work zone, volume (by hour) during lane closure
Total delay, percent of occurring when average vehicle delay exceeds 20 minutes per vehicle	Percent	Segment termini, start and end dates and times of lane closures, free-flow/desired speed, actual speed (by hour) during lane closure [OR free-flow/desired travel time, actual travel time (by hour) during lane closure], volume (by hour) during lane closure
Total delay, percent of occurring when queue length exceeds 0.5 mile	Percent	Segment termini, start and end dates and times of lane closures, free-flow/desired speed, actual speed (by hour) during lane closure [OR free-flow/desired travel time, actual travel time (by hour) during lane closure], volume (by hour) during lane closure, queue termini (by hour)
Average delay, (by hour) due to work zone during daytime lane closures	Minutes/Vehicle	Segment termini, start and end dates and times of lane closures, free-flow/desired speed, actual speed (by hour) prior to work zone, actual speed (by hour) during lane closure [OR free-flow/desired travel time, actual travel time (by hour) prior to work zone, actual travel time (by hour) during lane closure], volume (by hour) prior to work zone, volume (by hour) during lane closure
Average delay, (by hour) due to work zone during nighttime lane closures	Minutes/Vehicle	Segment termini, start and end dates and times of lane closures, free-flow/desired speed, actual speed (by hour) prior to work zone, actual speed (by hour) during lane closure [OR free-flow/desired travel time, actual travel time (by hour) prior to work zone, actual travel time (by hour) during lane closure], volume (by hour) prior to work zone, volume (by hour) during lane closure

5 Q ¢ World Ton 3 F 1 4 d Data Fl. ...inv 0 Tahle 5

Table 5. Requi	red Data Elemen	Table 5. Required Data Elements for Recommended Work Zone Performance Measures (continued).
Performance Measure	Units	Data Requirements
Average delay, (by hour) due to work zone during weekend lane closures	Minutes/Vehicle	Segment termini, start and end dates and times of lane closures, free-flow/desired speed, actual speed (by hour) prior to work zone, actual speed (by hour) during lane closure [OR free-flow/desired travel time, actual travel time (by hour) prior to work zone, actual travel time (by hour) during lane closure], volume (by hour) prior to work zone, volume (by hour) during lane closure
Average delay, percent of lane closure hours exceeding 20 minutes per vehicle	Percent	Segment termini, start and end dates and times of lane closures, free-flow/desired speed, actual speed (by hour) during lane closure [OR free-flow/desired travel time, actual travel time (by hour) during lane closure], volume (by hour) during lane closure
Average queue length, (by hour) due to work zone during daytime lane closures	Mile	Segment termini, start and end dates and times of lane closures, queue termini (by hour)
Average queue length, (by hour) due to work zone during nighttime lane closures	Mile	Segment termini, start and end dates and times of lane closures, queue termini (by hour)
Average queue length, (by hour) due to work zone during weekend lane closures	Mile	Segment termini, start and end dates and times of lane closures, queue termini (by hour)
Queue presence, percent of daytime lane closure hours	Percent	Segment termini, start and end dates and times of lane closures, queue presence (by hour)
Queue presence, percent of nighttime lane closure hours	Percent	Segment termini, start and end dates and times of lane closures, queue presence (by hour)
Queue presence, percent of weekend lane closure hours	Percent	Segment termini, start and end dates and times of lane closures, queue presence (by hour)
Queue length, percent of daytime lane closure hours when queue length is greater than 0.5 mile	Percent	Segment termini, start and end dates and times of lane closures, queue termini (by hour)
Queue length, percent of nighttime lane closure hours when queue length is greater than 0.5 mile	Percent	Segment termini, start and end dates and times of lane closures, queue termini (by hour)

Table 5. Re	quired Data J	Table 5. Required Data Elements for Recommended Work Zone Performance Measures (continued).
Performance Measure	Units	Data Requirements
Queue length, percent of weekend lane closure hours when queue length is greater than 0.5 mile	Percent	Segment termini, start and end dates and times of lane closures, queue termini (by hour)
Buffer time index, change from pre-work zone to work zone during peak periods	Percent	Segment termini, repeated daily observations of actual speed (by hour) prior to work zone, repeated daily observations of actual speed (by hour) during work zone [OR repeated daily observations of actual travel time (by hour) prior to work zone, repeated daily observations of actual travel time (by hour) prior to work zone, repeated daily observations of actual travel time (by hour) during work zone, repeated daily observations of actual travel time (by hour) during work zone, repeated daily observations of actual travel time (by hour) during work zone, repeated daily observations of actual travel time (by hour) during work zone, repeated daily observations of actual travel time (by hour) during work zone]
Buffer time index, change from pre-work zone to work zone during off- peak periods	Percent	Segment termini, repeated daily observations of actual speed (by hour) prior to work zone, repeated daily observations of actual speed (by hour) during work zone [OR repeated daily observations of actual travel time (by hour) prior to work zone, repeated daily observations of actual travel time (by hour) prior to work zone, repeated daily observations of actual travel time (by hour) prior to work zone, repeated daily observations of actual travel time (by hour) during work zone, repeated daily observations of actual travel time (by hour) prior to work zone, repeated daily observations of actual travel time (by hour) prior to work zone, repeated daily observations of actual travel time (by hour) during work zone]
Buffer time index, change from pre-work zone to work zone during nighttime periods	Percent	Segment termini, repeated daily observations of actual speed (by hour) prior to work zone, repeated daily observations of actual speed (by hour) during work zone [OR repeated daily observations of actual travel time (by hour) prior to work zone, repeated daily observations of actual travel time (by hour) prior to work zone, repeated daily observations of actual travel time (by hour) during work zone, repeated daily observations of actual travel time (by hour) prior to work zone, repeated daily observations of actual travel time (by hour) during work zone, repeated daily observations of actual travel time (by hour) during work zone, repeated daily observations of actual travel time (by hour) during work zone]
Buffer time index, change from pre-work zone to work zone during weekend periods	Percent	Segment termini, repeated daily observations of actual speed (by hour) prior to work zone, repeated daily observations of actual speed (by hour) during work zone [OR repeated daily observations of actual travel time (by hour) prior to work zone, repeated daily observations of actual travel time (by hour) prior to work zone, repeated daily observations of actual travel time (by hour) during work zone, repeated daily observations of actual travel time (by hour) prior to work zone, repeated daily observations of actual travel time (by hour) during work zone, repeated daily observations of actual travel time (by hour) during work zone, repeated daily observations of actual travel time (by hour) during work zone]
Crash rates (total and by severity), change from pre-work zone to work zone by project type, roadway type, and work period	Crashes per million vehicle miles	Segment termini, start and end date of work zone, crash occurrence and characteristics over analysis period (date, time, location, severity), daily volume prior to work zone, daily volume during work zone, type of work, start and end dates and times of lane closures
Crash rates (total and by severity), change from pre-work zone to work zone when a specific design element or combination of design elements are used	Crashes per million vehicle miles	Segment termini, start and end date of work zone, crash occurrence and characteristics over analysis period (date, time, location, severity), daily volume prior to work zone, daily volume during work zone, type of work, start and end dates and times of lane closures, temporary traffic control plans, asbuilt highway plans

(continue			
mance Measures			
Perfor			
t Zone			
Work			
ecommended			
for R			
Elements			
l Data I			
Required			
e 5. R			
able			
Table 5. Required Data Elements for Recommended Work Zone Performance Measures (continued).	Data Requirements	¹ Segment termini, start and end date of work zone, crash occurrence and characteristics over analysis period (date, time, location, severity), daily volume prior to work zone, daily volume during work zone, type of work, start and end dates and times of lane closures Segment termini, start and end date of work zone, crash occurrence and characteristics over analysis period (date, time, location, severity), daily volume prior to work zone, daily volume during work zone, type of work, start and end dates and times of lane closures	
---	------------------------	--	-------------------
Data Elements	Units	% change in crash likelihood % change in crash likelihood	
Table 5. Required	Performance Measure	Expected crash frequencies (total and by severity), change from pre-work zone to work zone by project type, roadway type, and work period Expected crash frequencies (total and by severity), change from pre-work zone to work zone when a specific design element or combination of design	elements are used

Table 6. Unique Data Elements for Work Zone Performance Monitoring Program.

Location and General Work Zone Characteristics

- Work zone analysis segment limits
- Start and end date of work zone
- Type of work
- Start and end dates and times of lane closures
- Temporary traffic control plans (for work zone design element safety analyses)
- As-built highway plans

Traffic

- Daily volume prior to work zone
- Daily volume during work zone
- Hourly volumes (or hourly distributions of the daily volume) prior to work zone
- Hourly volume (or distributions) during lane closure

Speed /Travel Time

- Free-flow/desired speed OR free-flow/desired travel time through work zone,
- Actual speed (by hour) prior to work zone OR actual travel time (by hour) pror to work zone
- Actual speed (by hour) during lane closure OR actual travel time (by hour) during lane closure

Queues

• Beginning and ending limits of the queue (by hour)

Crashes

• crash occurrence and characteristics over analysis period (date, time, location, severity)

WORK ZONE MOBILITY MONITORING: ANALYSIS METHODOLOGIES AND COMPUTATIONAL PROCEDURES

TMC-Supported Mobility Monitoring

Work zones located on facilities with existing traffic surveillance capabilities offer an opportunity to continuously monitor travel conditions and directly measure or compute mobility measures. This approach has several key advantages. Work activities in urbanized areas often involve temporary lane closures that occur sporadically over the project duration. There may be consecutive days or nights when lane closures are required, followed by several weeks to months where 1) work activity occurs outside of the traveled way, 2) the basic number of lanes is maintained, and 3) significant mobility impacts do not occur. Knowing the actual schedule of the lane closure events any more than a few days in advance is difficult in urbanized areas due to constantly evolving contractor schedules and the desire to only close a lane when absolutely necessary. Therefore, tracking lane closures and resulting mobility impacts is much more feasible to accomplish with traffic surveillance in place.

Two basic surveillance approaches exist in Texas; each has advantages and limitations relative to providing the required data needed for mobility-based performance monitoring. The first

approach, representative of data collection hardware available in Houston, is to continuously measure travel times through AVI technologies positioned along major roadways. This type of system reads vehicle toll tags at sequential roadside sensor stations and computes the elapsed time between stations (i.e., travel time). Travel times organized by time of day and day of week have been archived over several years and can be used to make direct comparisons between work zone and pre-work zone travel times and to compute several measures of delay and travel time reliability. Predetermined sensor locations control the mile point limits of the analysis segment and its correspondence to the exact beginning and ending location of the work zone.

AVI sensors are less able to accurately detect queue formation and length. The spacing between AVI sensor stations generally ranges from 2 to 5 miles. Depending on the location of a work zone lane closure, a queue may develop entirely within two sensor stations or extend across two or more stations. Consequently, AVI sensors alone will not directly measure the actual length of the queue itself. Rather, an analyst must use basic computational techniques with reasonable assumptions to relate the observed segment travel time increases and known lane closure locations to probable queue length within the segment. The AVI technologies do not have the ability to directly measure hourly or daily traffic volumes.

The second surveillance approach, representative of the system in San Antonio, uses a series of spot sensors (e.g., loop detectors, video detection, microwave radar) spaced at approximately one-half mile to continuously monitor traffic volumes and vehicle speeds. Speeds are aggregated at 20-second intervals or more. Computers calculate the travel times between sensors based on the average speeds of the sensors at each end of the segment. Summing estimated travel times on consecutive segments provides a travel time estimate along a given stretch of roadway. This approach is reasonably accurate when the roadway segments are not congested. Deviations between estimated and actual travel times can result when one or more sensors are located within areas of congestion. More direct estimates of queue characteristics are possible with spot surveillance technologies through comparisons of traffic counts and speeds between adjacent sensors. Large differences in speeds from one sensor to the next indicate a change from a congested to an uncongested traffic state somewhere between the sensor stations.

The ability to monitor lane closure schedules through a traffic management framework is another advantage to a TMC-supported monitoring approach. For example, roadwork and lane closure information in Houston is submitted to the Houston District Public Information Office (PIO) by the construction or maintenance offices or the construction contractor performing the work. The PIO enters the information into the Daily Roadwork Report database. Staff at TranStar, the regional traffic and emergency operations center, use the database to update lane closure information on the TranStar website and may also choose to activate related messages on dynamic message signs. TranStar staff members then monitor significant project locations—typically the lane closures and other high-volume traffic sites—with surveillance cameras to determine if the posted information matches what is actually happening at the site. In some instances, TranStar broadcasts camera images of the construction project on the website to inform the public of progress. Night operations are more difficult to track with the cameras.

Changes or updates to the website and database are normally not made if a lane closure project begins and ends relatively close to the posted times. The website will be updated accordingly

and the original Daily Roadwork Report database will be adjusted if the actual lane closure is running slightly late. Therefore, the website and database may not reflect the actual beginning and ending times of the lane closure in cases with small differences between posted times and actual times, especially in cases where the project finishes early. The public will sometimes inform TranStar staff of discrepancies if the actual lane closure times are significantly different than the posted times on the website.

TranStar provides direct lane closure details (e.g., time and location) on instrumented Houston corridors. The information may need to be verified and supplemented with additional data in some cases (such as project diaries). In addition, TranStar data will not include big picture construction project specifics (e.g., contract number, type of project, traffic control elements, switching dates between construction and temporary traffic control phases, work zone design elements, etc.). These details must be obtained directly from project personnel and project documentation.

The process of reporting lane closure information to TransGuide in San Antonio is very similar to the process in Houston with one exception: the lane closure data is reported directly to TransGuide rather than to the PIO as is done in Houston. TransGuide staff members typically do not monitor the status of individual projects. Much of their information related to schedule changes is provided directly by the contractors or public. When TransGuide is notified of a lane closure timing change through these media, the website and accompanying database are updated with correct times if the posted and actual times are significantly different.

Table 7 summarizes the availability of the required data elements needed to compute the recommended work zone performance measures using AVI (e.g., Houston) and spot-sensor (e.g., San Antonio) traffic surveillance technologies. Researchers assigned data element availabilities to one of three categories: 1) data element can be directly measured or estimated using traffic surveillance technology supplemented with additional information and verification, and 3) data element cannot be measured or estimated using traffic surveillance technology. For example, speeds and travel times can be directly measured or estimated using the processes described above. Lane closure date and time estimates are possible with both systems, but follow-up checks are recommended to confirm actual schedules. Finally, an analyst must obtain the other required project specifics (e.g., type of work, temporary traffic control plans) elsewhere because they are not available from the traffic surveillance systems.

The major difference between AVI and spot-sensor technologies is the ability of the latter to collect daily and hourly traffic volumes. Reliable volume estimates are important for computing accurate delay- and crash rate-related performance measures.

Traine Surveinance Teennolog		
Data Element	AVI Measurement Capabilities	Spot-Sensor Measurement Capabilities
Vork zone segment limits	۵	۵
tart and end date of work zone		
Type of work		
tart and end dates and times of lane closures*	۵	
emporary traffic control plans		
As-built highway plans		
Daily volume prior to work zone		
Daily volume during work zone*		
Volume (by hour) prior to work zone		
Volume (by hour) during lane closure*		
ree-flow/desired speed OR free-flow/desired travel	D	۵
Actual speed (by hour) prior to work zone OR ctual travel time (by hour) prior to work zone	•	
Actual speed (by hour) during lane closure OR ctual travel time (by hour) during lane closure*		
Queue limits caused by the work zone (by hour)*		٦
Daily volume during work zone* Volume (by hour) prior to work zone Volume (by hour) during lane closure* Pree-flow/desired speed OR free-flow/desired travel me Actual speed (by hour) prior to work zone OR ctual travel time (by hour) prior to work zone Actual speed (by hour) during lane closure OR ctual travel time (by hour) during lane closure*		

Table 7. Availability of Required Data Elements usingTraffic Surveillance Technologies in TMC-Supported Areas.

■ = data element can be directly measured or estimated using traffic surveillance technology

 \square = data element can be measured or estimated using traffic surveillance technology supplemented with additional information and verification

 \Box = data element cannot be measured or estimated using traffic surveillance technology

* These data are collected each occurrence during the project

Once the work zone and electronic surveillance data have been obtained, the following steps are required to calculate estimated delays and queues associated with each work activity period in which a temporary lane closure was employed:

Step 1: Compare Speeds and Volumes between Sensors to Determine Duration and Extent of Queuing

Beginning with the first sensor located upstream of the temporary lane closure, identify the hour when the lane closure began. Next, examine the average speeds each hour after that period. Average speeds below 40 miles per hour (mph) are indicative of queue presence at that sensor location. Perform this assessment at each sensor location in sequence upstream until reaching a sensor where speeds do not drop below 40 mph during the hours of the lane closure. The upstream end of the queue is assumed to be midway between that sensor and the next sensor downstream.

Figure 6 illustrates this process. In this example, sensors are located 0.2 mile, 0.8 mile, and 1.3 miles upstream of the temporary lane closure. Project diary information indicates that the lane closure began at 9:00 AM and ended at 3:30 PM. The analysis of speeds at the upstream sensor locations indicates that a queue began to develop at approximately 11:30 AM at the first sensor, which grew upstream and reduced speeds at the second sensor at about 12:30 PM. The queue did not extend back to the third sensor, since speeds never did drop below 40 mph at that location during the hours of work activity. Therefore, the estimated queue lengths each hour were:

• 11:30 AM	0 (queue begins)
• 12:00 PM	0.2 + (0.6/2) = 0.5 mile
• 1:00 PM	0.2 + 0.6 + (0.5/2) = 1.05 mile
• 2:00 PM	1.05 miles
• 3:00 PM	1.05 miles
• 3:30 PM	1.05 miles (lane closure ends)
• 4:00 PM	0 (queue ends)

Step 2: Estimate Average Travel Times through the Queue Each Hour

The average travel time through the queue can be estimated by computing the travel time required to traverse each segment of the queue that is accounted for by a sensor location, and then summing over all segments. For the illustration in Figure 6, speeds at sensor 1 would be assumed to represent the 0.5 mile in queue immediately upstream of the closure, and sensor 2 would represent the next 0.55 mile upstream. For each hour that a queue exists, these distances are divided by average speeds measured at each sensor to determine the average travel time through each segment, and then summed as shown in Table 8:

	Sensor 1 (0.5)	mile coverage)	Sensor 2 (0.55	mile coverage)	
Hour (PM)	Speed (mph)	Travel Time (min)	Speed (mph)	Travel Time (min)	Total Travel Time in Queue (min)
12:00	20	1.5	NA	NA	1.5
1:00	17	1.8	24	1.4	3.2
2:00	21	1.4	21	1.6	3.0
3:00	16	1.9	24	1.4	3.3

 Table 8. Travel Time Computations from Sensor Speed in Example.

An analysis of speeds at the same time of day without the lane closure (or an assumption of normal travel speeds) would be subtracted from these numbers to determine individual user delay. For the Figure 6 illustration, assuming that speeds during the day typically average 65 mph, the travel time over the 0.5 and 0.55 mile distances represented by each sensor location would be 0.4 and 0.5 minutes, respectively. Therefore, average vehicle delay through the queue each hour would be 1.1 minutes in the first hour and between 2.1 and 2.4 minutes for the next three hours.



Figure 6. Example of Sensor Speed Analysis to Determine Duration and Length of Queue.

Step 3: Compute Total Vehicle Delays through the Queue Each Hour

Once average vehicle delays have been estimated for each hour that the queue is present, total vehicle-hours of delay can be easily computed by multiplying the normal hourly volume by these average delay values. The analyst uses the normal (historical) volumes rather than those actually measured by the sensors in the queue because the sensors are measuring queue discharge rates rather than approach volumes. More importantly, there is likely considerable real-time diversion naturally occurring at the site that significantly reduces the approach volumes on that facility. Although actual volumes on that roadway are lower, volumes on other routes in the corridor or region experience an increase. One should assume that the alternative route taken by each of those diverting motorists will take longer than normal if they had used that facility as planned. Therefore, for purposes of simplicity, researchers recommend that the same average delay values be applied to both those vehicles passing through the queue and work zone and those diverting to other routes.

If the begin and end times of the lane closure and queue do not occur exactly on the hour, extrapolation techniques should be used to estimate the delays during that portion of an hour. Assuming that the hourly volumes on the facility are as shown below, the total vehicular delay experienced during this lane closure activity would be as shown in Table 9.

18	Die 9. Computations	of Delay III Example.	
	Normal Hourly	Average Delay per	Total Vehicle-
Hour	Volume (VPH)	Vehicle (min)	Hours of Delay
11:30 AM - 12:00 PM	2100	1.1	19.3*
12:00-1:00 PM	2300	1.1	42.2
1:00-2:00 PM	2450	2.3	93.2
2:00-3:00 PM	2500	2.1	87.5
3:00-3:30 PM	2600	2.4	52.0*
TOTAL			294.2

Table 9. Computations of Delay in Example.

* The hourly volume multiplied by the average delay per vehicle is then halved for each of these 30-minute periods when a queue is present

Non-TMC-Supported Mobility Monitoring

A large number of work zone locations are likely to be on non-TMC-supported highways. Existing traffic surveillance infrastructure is less common in smaller urban areas and rural locations than in urbanized areas. Urbanized areas with existing data collection infrastructure generally focus surveillance on major commuter routes; other major routes may or may not be covered. In addition, the functionality of spot-sensors and other technologies may be interrupted during construction activities. Alternative ways to collect the 10 of 15 required data elements that would otherwise be fully or partially supported by traffic surveillance technologies are needed. Table 10 provides a preliminary list of options.

The accuracy of work zone monitoring efforts will be maximized by data collection activities that are initiated specifically for this purpose (such as the deployment of work zone ITS at a site).

However, practical limitations on budgets, time, and staffing that can be devoted to these activities make this alternative unrealistic. This will likely remain the case until the benefits of work zone performance monitoring can be demonstrated.

Data Element	Alternative Non-TMC-Supported Data Collection and Estimation Strategies
Daily volume prior to work zone	 Most recent traffic count on actual or nearby segment AADT estimate for that roadway segment
Daily volume during work zone	 Most recent traffic count with assumed proportion of diverted traffic AADT estimate adjusted by proportion of assumed diverted traffic
Volume (by hour) prior to work zone	 Most recent traffic count by hour Assumed hourly distributions of most recent daily traffic count or AADT estimate
Volume (by hour) during lane closure	 Most recent traffic count by hour with assumed proportions of diverted traffic Assumed hourly distributions of most recent daily traffic count or AADT estimate with assumed proportions of diverted traffic
Free-flow/desired speed OR free-flow/desired travel time	• Assumed free-flow speed
Actual speed (by hour) prior to work zone OR actual travel time (by hour) prior to work zone	 Speed or travel time study (e.g., spot speeds, floating car, etc.) specific to the work zone monitoring purpose Estimation with traffic flow theory, traffic analysis tools, and actual or estimated hourly volume counts
Actual speed (by hour) during lane closure OR actual travel time (by hour) during lane closure	 Speed or travel time study (e.g., spot speeds, floating car, etc.) specific to the work zone monitoring purpose Estimation with traffic flow theory, traffic analysis tools, and actual or estimated hourly volumes¹
Beginning and ending limits of the queue (by hour)	 Project diaries with more detailed documentation specific to the work zone monitoring purpose Estimation with traffic analysis tools and actual or estimated hourly volumes

 Table 10. Alternative Non-TMC-Supported Data Collection and Estimation Strategies.

¹ Hourly volumes may be estimated by assuming an hourly distribution of daily work zone traffic or by using a documented queue length and assumed work zone capacity

A more practical alternative involves approximating work zone impacts using estimated hourly work zone volumes and traffic analysis tools (e.g., analytical/deterministic, macroscopic models, microscopic models, etc.). The approach is similar to analyses conducted by some state agencies during work zone planning and impact assessments with the addition of field monitoring, model validation, and model adjustment steps. The proposed approach is demonstrated in Figure 7. The advantage of this approach is that it only requires field collection of one of two data elements (either queue length or speed/travel time). A simple form to be used for documenting queue lengths as part of project inspector note taking for daily diary entries is provided in Table 11.

The level of accuracy of this type of estimation will be directly related to the capabilities of the analysis approach selected (deterministic, macroscopic, or microscopic simulation), the availability of required model inputs, and the thoroughness with which the validation and adjustment steps are conducted.

Without the availability of traffic surveillance data, the queue length estimates collected using the form in Table 11 provide the main source of mobility impact data. Basic traffic flow relationships can be used to estimate the impacts of the temporary work zone lane closures on mobility. The steps associated with this computational approach are as follows:

Step 1: Estimate Normal Hourly Volumes on Roadway during Hours of Lane Closure

For most roadway locations, only AADT planning-level estimates will be available for use. The analyst must divide these 24-hour count estimates into hourly directional volumes. Automatic traffic recorder (ATR) stations on similar types of facilities in the vicinity of the project provide hourly distribution values that can be directly applied to the AADT number at a location. The directional split of traffic will also need to be included in the computations. Often, a 50/50 split by direction can be assumed.

Step 2: Estimate the Capacity of the Work Zone

The 2000 Highway Capacity Manual (HCM) uses the following equation to estimate the traffic capacity of a short-term lane closure (9):

 $c_a = (1,600 + I - R) * f_{HV} * N$

where,

ca	=	work zone capacity (vehicles per hour)
Ι	=	work activity intensity adjustment (\pm 160 passenger cars per hour per lane)
R	=	volume on ramps within 500 ft of the lane closure (passenger cars per
hour)		
$f_{\rm HV}$	=	adjustment for heavy vehicles
Ν	=	number of lanes open through the work zone

For the computations presented in this guide, an approximation of 1500 vehicles per hour per lane will usually suffice.



Figure 7. Alternative Work Zone Monitoring Approach for Non-TMC-Supported Highways.

Table 11. Queue Length Documentation Form.

Project:

Date Time Dir of Begin End Travel	Loc of Work	Begin	End	Dir of	Loc of		Time	Time	(<	<	<	,	,
				-	Closure	# Lns Closed	Q Begins	Ends	Q Length @ Hr 1	بر Mr 2 الا 2	ر Length @ Hr 3	Ч Length @ Hr 4	Q Length @ Hr 5	Q Length @Hr 6
						<u> </u>								

Estimates of queue lengths approximately every hour are desired. However, the time can be adjusted slightly as necessary, as long as the reporting time is noted. Locations of work and lane closures can be noted using mile markers, stations, etc.

Step 3: Estimate the Normal Capacity of the Roadway

The HCM also provides procedures to estimate the normal traffic-carrying capacity of the roadway segment. Again, for the degree of accuracy being targeted through these computations, the following approximations will usually suffice:

For 65- and 70-mph roadways: 2200 vehicles per hour per lane * number of lanes on the facility

For 60-mph roadways: 2000 vehicles per hour per lane * number of lanes on the facility

Step 4: Estimate Average Speed in Queue and Average Delay per Vehicle through Queue

The following equation, used in the Queue and User cost Evaluation for Work Zones (QUEWZ) program developed in the 1980s by TTI for TxDOT, produces an estimate of the average speed in queue as a function of the normal roadway capacity and the capacity through the work zone (10):

Average Speed in Queue =
$$\left(\frac{Free Flow Speed}{2}\right) \left(1 - \left(1 - \frac{Work Zone Capacity}{Normal Roadway Capacity}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\right)$$

Substituting the suggested capacity estimates into the equation yields the following average speed in queue values:

s Zone			umber of La ection of Tra	-
in Worl		2	3	4
ies Open	1	6.6	4.8	3.6
Number of Lanes Open in Work Zone	2		10.5	7.5
Numbe	3			12.0

Average Speed in Queue: 70-mph Roadways

s Zone			umber of La ection of Tra	-
in Worl		2	3	4
Number of Lanes Open in Work Zone	1	6.1	3.9	3.1
er of Lan	2		9.2	6.6
Numbe	3			10.5

Average Speed in Queue: 65-mph Roadways

Average Speed in Queue: 60-mph Roadways

k Zone			umber of La ection of Tra	-
in Work		2	3	4
Number of Lanes Open in Work Zone	1	6.3	4.0	3.0
er of Lan	2		8.8	6.3
Numbe	3			10.2

Assuming that these speeds are maintained, on average, through the entire length of queue documented on the forms, estimates of average delays per vehicle can be computed as a function of the length of queue that was documented. Figure 8 through Figure 10 are provided to simplify the computations.



Note: (x,x) indicates (number of roadway lanes, number lanes open in work zone) Figure 8. Effect of Queue Length on Average Delay (70-mph Roadways).



Figure 9. Effect of Queue Length on Average Delay (65-mph Roadways).



Figure 10. Effect of Queue Length on Delay (60-mph Roadways).

Step 5: Compute Total Vehicle Delays through the Queue Each Hour

Once the average delay per vehicle due to the queue has been estimated, the analyst computes the total vehicle-hours of delay by multiplying the normal hourly volume by these average delay values. If the begin and end times of the lane closure and queue do not occur exactly on the hour, extrapolation techniques should be used to estimate the delays during that portion of an hour. Of course, this approach does not account for the additional delay caused by vehicles traveling slower through the length of work zone once passing through the queue. In most instances, the delays generated by the queue upstream of the work zone will far exceed any delays created by slower speeds through the work zone itself. For comparative purposes, Figure 11 illustrates the additional delay that would be generated as a function of the length of the work zone, assuming that a vehicle travels at the speed equal to a capacity flow rate through the work zone. Generally speaking, the estimated additional delay would be less than 1 minute per mile of work zone.



Figure 11. Effect of Work Zone Length on Average Delay.

As a final note, these delays through the queue could be combined with delay that occurs by vehicles traveling through the work zone itself as capacity flow speeds (generally between 28 and 35 mph, depending on normal operating speeds). The delay is calculated simply as the difference between the speed at capacity flow and desired speed through the work zone times the length of the work zone. Many contractors (and some DOTs) prefer slower speeds past the work area, and so may choose to not include this portion of delay in their calculations.

WORK ZONE SAFETY MONITORING: ANALYSIS METHODOLOGIES AND COMPUTATIONAL PROCEDURES

The safety monitoring procedure discussed has two major components:

- 1. estimating the practicality and frequency of real-time work zone safety monitoring and
- 2. determining if safety has declined more than expected or more than tolerable on a work zone segment.

Major advances in safety data analysis have occurred over the past decade. Awareness and understanding of the difficulties associated with linking observed accident trends to accident causation have increased. The menu of statistical techniques as well as the host of known caveats associated with conclusions from analysis results have grown. The challenges are particularly prevalent in work zones due to short analysis periods and constantly changing roadway, roadside, and traffic control features and conditions. Safety analysis approaches that have been theoretically dismissed may be the only practical choice for real-time work zone monitoring at this time. Trade-offs are evident. Techniques requiring the smallest amount of data are less likely to directly provide unbiased conclusions; methods aimed at removing or minimizing bias have greater data needs. All such considerations were given thorough treatment.

For purposes of this discussion, safety is defined as the number of accidents, or accident consequences (e.g., accidents by type or severity) *expected* to occur on an entity (e.g., roadway segment, intersection, etc.) during a specified time period. Safety is an underlying property of the entity analogous to a "long-term average" of accident frequency or accident consequences. Safety is not synonymous with *observed* accident counts as there may be a difference between what is expected and what is observed. However, observed accident counts are the key data element used to estimate the safety of an entity.

Figure 12 demonstrates the randomness of observed accident counts. A temporary traffic control plan is implemented and observed for three months (July, August, and September). The lightly-shaded circles represent the observed accident counts for each of these months while the temporary traffic control is in place. The numbers of accidents during each of these same months in the three years prior to the work zone are known and are marked by the hollow squares. The dark, shaded rectangles are the computed mean values (in accidents per month) of the accident counts during the three years prior.



Figure 12. Randomness in Observed Work Zone Accident Counts.

From the data in Figure 12 alone, it is difficult to conclude whether there was a safety reduction on the highway segment. For example, is it reasonable to say that the work zone was less safe

than normal conditions in July, safer in August, and less safe in September? What if there were no changes in work phasing or traffic control? Reliably answering these questions is the focus of the remainder of this section.

Estimating the Practicality and Frequency of Real-Time Work Zone Safety Monitoring

Real-time work zone safety monitoring will require manpower investment. The District Safety Review Team or other district staff assigned to safety monitoring responsibilities will need to receive accident information in real-time or near real-time. The data will need to be compiled and analyzed, and researchers may need to conduct follow-up field visits to identify or diagnose possible safety problems implied by data analysis results. These activities will require additional time and agency coordination; it would be useful to know, a priori, the likelihood of success for monitoring a work zone in real-time and the frequency with which the monitoring can reasonably be conducted (e.g., every month, quarterly, semi-annually, or annually).

The graphs in Figure 13 through Figure 18 are designed to address both issues. They provide an estimate of a recommended monitoring period based on the amount of data needed to detect safety reductions from normal operating conditions. The following information is required to use the figures:

- an estimate of the accident rate per million-vehicle-miles (MVM) for the segment where the work zone will be located under normal operating conditions,
- the ADT expected through the work zone, and
- the work zone segment length.

The segment length may be the length of the entire work zone or the length of a specific segment within the work zone boundaries. Analyzing shorter segment lengths with homogenous features in order to account for changes in geometric and traffic control variables throughout the work zone is desirable. Similarly, agencies should monitor work zones frequently (e.g., every month) to capture changes that may occur in work phasing, work intensity, and associated temporary traffic control strategies. Sample size and statistical power become controlling issues in both cases. Work zones where real-time monitoring may not be practical are those where the estimated monitoring period is nearly as long as or longer than the work zone duration.

Several statistical-related assumptions were necessary at intermediate steps of developing the curves in Figure 13 through Figure 18. The first was related to the magnitude and precision of the estimated safety change that can be detected. The two factors are related; less precision is required to conclude that an observed 50 percent crash increase was associated with an actual reduction in safety (and not just a random occurrence) than is needed to conclude that a 5 percent crash increase was associated with a reduction in safety. The curves in the figures are based on the sample size required to estimate a 100 percent safety reduction with standard error of ± 100 percent. This value does not imply that one is only looking to detect changes of 100 percent or greater; rather, it is selected as a way to identify those work zones where there will be sufficient data to detect if safety degrades much more than would be normally expected.

The second assumption was that the ratio of the work zone period of interest to the before period was equal to one-third. This ratio would occur when the observed work zone period is compared

to the same time period for the three years prior to the work zone. For example, assume a temporary traffic control plan is implemented in July 2008, and the district chooses to analyze accident data every three months. The number of accidents in the first analysis period, July 2008 through September 2008, will be compared to the average number of accidents from July 2007 through September 2007, July 2006 through September 2006, and July 2005 through September 2005. Using the same months for comparison partially controls for seasonal factors such as fluctuations in traffic, weather, and light conditions.

The following figures are intended to help a district decide, a priori, how frequently (if at all) to compile and analyze accident data for work zones. However, the process of determining if safety has declined more than expected or tolerable following implementation of a temporary traffic control plan (described in the following section) can be executed for any work zone. The figures provide a tool for districts to be proactive in selecting work zones for real-time monitoring and for estimating monitoring frequency; reactive analysis may also be needed after the occurrence of one or more severe crashes or following a large increase in crash frequency.



Figure 13. ADT and Project Length Combinations that Allow Detection of Significant Increases in Crashes during the Project (Pre-Work Zone Rate of 0.5 Accidents/MVM).



Figure 14. ADT and Project Length Combinations that Allow Detection of Significant Increases in Crashes during the Project (Pre-Work Zone Rate of 1.0 Accidents/MVM).



Figure 15. ADT and Project Length Combinations that Allow Detection of Significant Increases in Crashes during the Project (Pre-Work Zone Rate of 1.5 Accidents/MVM).



Figure 16. ADT and Project Length Combinations that Allow Detection of Significant Increases in Crashes during the Project (Pre-Work Zone Rate of 2.0 Accidents/MVM).



Figure 17. ADT and Project Length Combinations that Allow Detection of Significant Increases in Crashes during the Project (Pre-Work Zone Rate of 3.0 Accidents/MVM).



Figure 18. ADT and Project Length Combinations that Allow Detection of Significant Increases in Crashes during the Project (Pre-Work Zone Rate of 4.0 Accidents/MVM).

As an example of the above, assume a 6-mile pavement reconstruction project is scheduled on a four-lane divided freeway with an ADT of 40,000 vehicles per day and a typical accident rate of 1.0 accident per MVM. The entire project will last eight months, with a phase change after four months. Work in both directions of travel will occur simultaneously. What types of monitoring activities can be conducted?

Figure 19 illustrates the trade-off analyses that could be made. As can be seen, one could analyze the entire 6 miles for both directions combined approximately every two months and likely draw meaningful conclusions about whether safety at the work zone is being unduly compromised. Next, one could look at the 6-mile segments separately for each direction of travel (equal to an AADT of 20,000 vpd), but this analysis would require an estimated three-month monitoring period (assuming a 50/50 directional traffic distribution). Similarly, further disaggregation into 3-mile segments in each direction would require an estimated six months of data before meaningful conclusions would likely be possible. Finally, real-time analysis of 2-mile and smaller directional segments would probably not be practical for this work zone (approximately nine months of data needed—longer than the project duration).



Figure 19. Example of Trade-Off Analysis of Different Segment Lengths and Monitoring Periods (Pre-Work Zone Rate of 1.0 Accidents/MVM).

Determining if Safety Has Declined More than Expected or More than Tolerable on a Work Zone Segment

This section describes a procedure for analyzing work zone segments to determine if safety has declined more than expected or more than the district considers tolerable compared to normal operating conditions. A number of alternative comparisons can be made with respect to defining safety during normal operating conditions. The one presented here is a commonly used comparison that accounts for seasonal fluctuations in extraneous accident influencing factors (e.g., traffic, weather, and light conditions). The following data are needed:

- the number of accidents observed during the work zone period of interest on the work zone segment of interest (*L*),
- the total number of accidents on the same segment and during the same calendar period for the designated before period (*K*),
- the ratio of the work zone analysis period to the designated before period (r_d) ,

- an estimate of the ratio of traffic in the work zone to traffic on the same segment and during the same calendar period for three years prior (\hat{r}_{tf}) , and
- the maximum percent safety reduction the district expects or is willing to accept $(\theta_{tolerable})$.

The use of "^" above the parameter indicates the value is unknown but is estimated using the best information available. Four computational steps are required:

Step 1: Estimate the safety of the work zone segment during the period of interest $(\hat{\lambda})$ and the variance of that estimate:

$$\lambda = L$$
$$V\hat{A}R\{\hat{\lambda}\} = L$$

Step 2: Estimate what would have been the safety of the segment during the same time period had the work zone not been there $(\hat{\pi})$ and that variance of the estimate:

$$\hat{\pi} = r_d \hat{r}_{tf} K$$
$$V \hat{A} R\{\hat{\pi}\} = r_d^2 r_{tf}^2 K$$

The value for $\hat{\pi}$ is estimated using a "average" of the accident frequency on the same segment and during the same calendar period while accounting for changes in traffic volumes. A threeyear average is recommended, reflecting a balance between the use of recent data and obtaining large enough sample sizes. If traffic has grown and is greater in the work zone than on the same segment for the three years prior, \hat{r}_{tf} will be greater than 1. If traffic has decreased as a result of general trends or implementation of travel demand management strategies introduced as part of the temporary traffic management plan, then \hat{r}_{tf} will be less than 1. If no information on traffic volumes is available, a value of 1.0 should be used for \hat{r}_{tf} .

Step 3: Estimate the tolerable work zone safety given the maximum safety reduction the district expects or is willing to accept ($\hat{\lambda}_{tolerable}$) and the variance of that estimate:

$$\hat{\lambda}_{tolerable} = \left(\frac{\theta\%_{tolerable}}{100\%} + 1\right) * \hat{\pi}$$

$$\hat{VAR}\left\{\hat{\lambda}_{tolerable}\right\} = \left(\frac{\theta\%_{tolerable}}{100\%} + 1\right)^2 * \hat{VAR}\left\{\hat{\pi}\right\}$$

Step 4: Determine if the safety of the work zone segment during the period of interest $(\hat{\lambda})$ is worse than the expected or tolerable work zone safety $(\hat{\lambda}_{tolerable})$:

$\hat{\lambda} > \hat{\lambda}_{tolerable} + 1.282\sqrt{\hat{VAR}\{\hat{\lambda}\} + \hat{VAR}\{\hat{\lambda}_{tolerable}\}}$	Safety of the work zone segment during the period of interest is worse than expected or tolerable.
---	--

$$\hat{\lambda} \leq \hat{\lambda}_{tolerable} + 1.282\sqrt{\hat{VAR}\{\hat{\lambda}\} + \hat{VAR}\{\hat{\lambda}_{tolerable}\}}$$
There is not enough evidence to conclude that safety of the work zone segment during the period of interest is worse than expected or tolerable (with caveat explained below).

The use of 1.282 indicates that if we conclude the safety of the work zone segment during the period of interest $(\hat{\lambda})$ is worse than the expected or tolerable work zone safety $(\hat{\lambda}_{tolerable})$, the conclusion will be correct at least 90 percent of the time. With this confidence level, there is a chance (especially with small sample sizes) that we will conclude the safety of the work zone segment during the period of interest is not worse than the expected or tolerable work zone safety and be wrong. One could reduce the chance of the latter occurrence by decreasing the level of confidence in the first conclusion. However, this will then flag a larger number of work zone segments as being less safe than expected or tolerable. Assuming work zone safety will also be addressed in each district through a number of non-quantitative procedures (e.g., development and application of detailed work zone design and temporary traffic control guidance, formal inspections [e.g., Form 599 inspections], informal inspections), a 90 percent confidence level is used to try and identify the most extreme safety changes with a high level of confidence.

Figure 20 provides a graphical approach to accomplishing steps 3 and 4. The x-axis represents the safety of the segment during the time period of interest when the work zone was not there $(\hat{\pi})$. Values on the y-axis indicate the minimum number of work zone accidents observed during the analysis period $(\hat{\lambda} = L)$ that would indicate safety has been reduced greater than expected or tolerable. Relationships are shown for three levels of tolerable safety reductions. The graphs in Figure 20 are intended for use when the ratio of the work zone analysis period to the designated before period is equal to 0.33. This observation holds true when the work zone period is compared to the same time period for three years prior to the work zone. Use of the equations in steps 1 through 4 is recommended for other types of comparisons.







(b) $50 \le$ expected crashes ≤ 90



(c) $90 \le$ expected crashes ≤ 130

Figure 20. Graphical Representation of Computational Steps 3 and 4.

As an example of these procedures, consider a 3.5-mile pavement rehabilitation project that is located in both directions of on a six-lane divided freeway with an ADT of approximately 120,000 vehicles per day. The project began on August 1, 2007, and the first three months of accident data are available (see Table 12). A district engineer wishes to determine if safety on the segment has been reduced and whether that reduction is greater than what the district expects or considers tolerable (20 percent in this district). The comparison should be made on a monthly and quarterly basis. Traffic volumes have remained fairly constant for the last four years, including daily volumes through the work zone.

August comparison:

 $\hat{\lambda} = L = 25$ $\hat{\pi} = r_d \hat{r}_{tf} K = 0.33 * 1 * (8 + 15 + 15) = 12.5$

Using Figure 21, the number 22 is the minimum number of observed accidents that would indicate safety has decreased more than expected or tolerable (using the tolerable reduction line of 20 percent shown in the figure). Therefore, safety on this segment was worse than tolerable in August.

September comparison:

 $\hat{\lambda} = L = 17$ $\hat{\pi} = r_d \ \hat{r}_{tf} \ K = 0.33 * 1 * (7 + 10 + 23) = 13.2$

	Number of		
Month	Accidents		
August 2004	8		
September 2004	7		
October 2004	18		
August 2005	15		
September 2005	10		
October 2005	14		
August 2006	15		
September 2006	23		
October 2006	25		
August 2007	21		
September 2007	17		
October 2007	21		

 Table 12.
 Number of Accidents in Work Zone for Both Directions of Travel.

Again using Figure 21, the number 23 is the minimum number of observed accidents that would indicate safety has decreased more than expected or tolerable (using the tolerable reduction line of 20 percent shown in the figure). Therefore, there is not enough evidence to conclude that safety on this segment was worse than tolerable in September.

October comparison:

$$\hat{\lambda} = L = 21$$

 $\hat{\pi} = r_d \ \hat{r}_{tf} \ K = 0.33 * 1 * (18 + 14 + 25) = 18.8$

Based on Figure 21, the number 23 is the minimum number of observed accidents that would indicate safety has decreased more than expected or tolerable (using the tolerable reduction line of 20 percent shown in the figure). Therefore, there is not enough evidence to conclude that safety on this segment was worse than tolerable in October.

Quarterly comparison:

$$\hat{\lambda} = L = 21 + 17 + 21 = 59$$

$$\hat{\pi} = r_d \ \hat{r}_{tf} \ K = 0.33 * 1 * (8 + 7 + 18 + 15 + 10 + 14 + 15 + 23 + 25) = 44.6$$

As shown in Figure 21, the number 65 is the minimum number of observed accidents that would indicate safety has decreased more than expected or tolerable (using the tolerable reduction line of 20 percent shown in the figure). Therefore, there is not enough evidence to conclude that

safety on this segment was worse than tolerable during the first three months of the work zone. However, one can confidently conclude that there was a safety reduction of at least 5 to 10 percent (59 accidents fall between the black and red lines).



Figure 21. Example of Safety Assessment Procedures.

WORK ZONE MOBILITY MONITORING PILOT TESTING

OVERVIEW

To demonstrate the work zone mobility analysis methodologies and computational procedures described in the previous chapter, researchers contacted several of the urban districts to identify possible work zone pilot test sites. Researchers focused on sites that involved temporary lane closures on multiple days or nights that would generate traffic queuing during all or part of the lane closure period. In addition, researchers targeted sites that existed on routes where traffic surveillance equipment was present (in order to test the TMC-supported mobility monitoring procedures previously) and where project personnel were willing to provide queue length estimates for temporary lane closures (in order to test the non-TMC-supported mobility monitoring procedures previously presented). Researchers selected Interstate Highway (IH) 35 near Fort Sam Houston in San Antonio or the pilot test site.

SITE DESCRIPTION

The study section consists of three lanes in each direction. The innermost lane for each direction was closed because of work activity in the center median. Construction work was started in early January 2008 and lasted until May 2008. The pilot test location in the San Antonio area is shown in Figure 22. The lane closure limit for IH 35 northbound started 0.1 mile south of North Walters Street and extended to 0.4 mile north of the IH 410 northbound on-ramp to IH 35 southbound (approximately 3 miles). Similarly, the lane closure limit for IH 35 southbound and terminated 0.4 mile north of the IH 410 northbound on-ramp to IH 35 southbound and terminated 0.6 mile north of North Walters Street (approximately 2.4 miles).

The posted speed limit in this section of freeway is 60 mph. The lane closure activities occurred during weekday off-peak periods between 9:00 AM and 4:00 PM. This site was selected because traffic demands to the on-ramp to IH 410 southbound from IH 35 northbound and the off-ramp from IH 410 northbound to IH 35 southbound often created traffic congestion and queuing at the lane closures.



Figure 22. Lane Closure Limits for San Antonio Pilot Test Site (11).

DATA COLLECTION

Data were collected in March and April 2008 for use in estimating and comparing traffic mobility impacts resulting from this work activity. These data consisted of TTI researcher-collected travel time runs, spot speeds, and volume data obtained from traffic sensors along IH 35 as part of the TransGuide system in San Antonio, and estimates of queue lengths provided by TxDOT field personnel overseeing work activities at the site.

Travel Time Data

TTI researchers collected travel time data and obtained travel speeds throughout the work zone, the location of work zone features, and queue lengths. Researchers collected these data on March 17, March 20, and March 27, 2008. Researchers used one handheld Global Positioning System (GPS) unit and another GPS unit with the receiver/antenna placed on the roof of the data collection vehicle while conducting a travel time run. Researchers identified the formation of queue if the travel speed fell below 30 mph. Researchers imported these data into a Geographic Information System (GIS) map with street network, and identified the exact location of the beginning and the end of the work zone and the beginning and dissipation of queue length. Queue lengths measured on IH 35 are shown in Table 13 through Table 15 for three days when travel time runs were conducted. The maximum observed queue length was 2.8 miles on March 20, 2008, between 11:30 AM and 11:45 AM.

Run Number and		Queue	
Direction	Start Time	Length	
Direction		(mile)	
Run 1 - IH 35 SB	10:31:59	1.31	
Run 1 - IH 35 NB	10:43:28	0.52	
Run 2 - IH 35 SB	10:50:28	1.55	
Run 2 - IH 35 NB	11:06:06	0.36	
Run 3 - IH 35 SB	11:12:06	1.66	
Run 3 - IH 35 NB	11:31:28	0.46	
Run 4 - IH 35 SB	11:36:24	1.73	
Run 4 - IH 35 NB	11:57:31	0.12	
Run 5 - IH 35 SB	12:05:10	2.45	
Run 5 - IH 35 NB	12:27:35	0.35	

 Table 13. Queue Length Data Collected on 3/17/2008 at IH 35.

 Table 14. Queue Length Data Collected on 3/20/2008 at IH 35.

Run Number and Direction		Queue	
	Start Time	Length	
		(mile)	
Run 1 - IH 35 SB	10:49:33	1.18	
Run 1 - IH 35 NB	11:02:30	0.31	
Run 2 - IH 35 SB	11:09:22	2.63	
Run 2 - IH 35 NB	11:22:50	0.45	
Run 3 - IH 35 SB	11:30:50	2.83	
Run 3 - IH 35 NB	11:51:38	0.66	
Run 4 - IH 35 SB	12:00:54	1.68	
Run 4 - IH 35 NB	12:18:50	0.88	

 Table 15. Queue Length Data Collected on 3/27/2008 at IH 35.

Run Number and Direction	Start Time	Queue Length (mile)
Run 1 - IH 35 SB	10:23:21	1.80
Run 2 - IH 35 SB	10:42:09	1.56
Run 3 - IH 35 SB	11:58:23	0.83
Run 4 - IH 35 SB	12:12:53	0.81
Run 5 - IH 35 SB	12:28:39	0.72
Run 5 - IH 35 NB	12:36:04	0.93

Data obtained from the travel time runs were used to obtain speed profiles approaching and passing through the work zone. Examples of these profiles (Run 4 as shown in Table 13) are presented in Figure 23 and Figure 24 for the southbound and northbound directions, respectively. In the southbound direction it is important to note that queue speeds decreased continuously within the queue rather than remaining at a constant queue speed. This pattern is consistent with

previous research and most likely reflects the real-time behaviors of motorists in the corridor to naturally divert in to other routes in response to the magnitude of queuing that develops (12). However, once reaching the lowest speed in queue (at the lane closure taper), vehicle speeds gradually increased through the actual work zone area. This speed profile contrasts slightly with the analysis assumptions presented in the previous chapter, where average speeds were assumed to be at capacity flow (approximately 30 mph for this freeway facility) through the entire length of work zone. Meanwhile, traffic demands in the northbound direction on this particular travel time run were apparently lower, to the point that only a minimal queue was detected.



Figure 23. Example of Speed Profile along Work Zone IH 35 Southbound (3/17/2008).



Figure 24. Example of Speed Profile along Work Zone IH 35 Northbound (3/17/2008).

Traffic Sensor Data

Researchers also obtained electronic traffic sensor data for the pilot test site from TxDOT's TransGuide system in San Antonio. Researchers downloaded data from March 13, 2008, through end of April 2008. These data were downloaded as 20-second interval data, and therefore had to be processed into more useful 15-minute and hourly interval data.

Traffic sensor IDs and length between sensors are shown in Table 16. Graphically, the traffic sensor locations within, upstream, and downstream of the work zone are shown in Figure 25. For reference purposes, the start and endpoints of the lane closure are also shown. The IH 35 southbound lane closure begins 1550 ft downstream of sensor ID 162.899 and ends 1670 ft downstream of sensor ID 160.504. The lane closure for IH 35 northbound starts 350 ft downstream of sensor ID 159.500 and ends 1820 ft downstream of sensor ID 162.482.

	IH 3:	5 Northb	ound	IH 35 Southbo		ound	Distance	
Sensor ID	Work Zone Work Zone		Work Zone Betw		Between			
Selisor ID	Within	Before	After	Within	Before	After	Sensors	
With	vv IuIIII	Delote	Alter	vv Itilli	Delote	Alter	(mile)	
158.036		Х				Х	0.00	
158.492		Х				Х	0.46	
158.947		Х				Х	0.46	
159.500		Х				Х	0.55	
159.998	Х					Х	0.46	
160.504	X			Х			0.54	
160.892	X			X			0.39	
161.405	X			X			0.51	
161.846	Х			Х			0.44	
162.482	Х			Х			0.64	
162.899			Х		Х		0.41	
163.421			Х		Х		0.52	
163.896			Х		Х		0.48	
164.412			Х		Х		0.52	
164.909			Х		X		0.50	

Table 16. Location of Sensor IDs at the IH 35 Site.

Queue lengths and corresponding time at a sensor location along IH 35 southbound are shown in the appendix. For some of the days, the queuing caused did continue into the PM peak period after the lane closure had presumably been removed. On these days, the researchers simply quit attributing any of the queuing observed after 4:00 PM to the lane closures. Undoubtedly, though, some of the congestion and delays that were incurred after 4:00 PM on those days could be considered as at least partially induced by the presence of the lane closures earlier in the day.




Manual Observation of Congestion by TxDOT Personnel

The research team asked TxDOT field personnel working for this project to prepare a log sheet of approximate queue lengths and corresponding times of occurrence during the lane closures. Field crews provided these data for 10 days during the data collection period. These data reflect a sampling of the queuing behavior observed by field personnel over the six-week study period. The field observation log sheet can be found in Table 17. Field crew personnel documented queue lengths as long as 1.5 miles on some of the days.

140	ie 17. Queut	mormano	n obtained			inicit
Date	Lane	Lane	Queue Start	Queue End	Approximate	Description
	Closure	Closure	Time	Time	Queue	
	Start Time	End Time			Length	
					(miles)	
3/10/2008	None					Rainy day
3/13/2008	9:00	13:00	11:00	13:00	0.7	
3/13/2008	13:00	15:00	13:00	15:00	0.3	
3/31/2008	9:00	15:00	12:00	13:00	0.9	
4/01/2008	9:00	15:00	12:00	13:00	1.0	Speed down to 40 mph
4/02/2008	9:00	15:00	9:20	10:00	1.4	•
4/14/2008	9:00	15:00	12:30	13:30	1.5	
4/16/2008	9:00	15:00	11:00	12:00	1.0	
4/17/2008	9:00	15:00	9:30	10:30	0.9	
4/18/2008	9:00	15:00	10:00	11:00	0.9	
4/28/2008	9:00	15:00	10:30	10:45	0	
4/28/2008	9:00	15:00	11:15	11:45	0	

 Table 17. Queue Information Obtained from TxDOT Field Personnel.

RESULTS

Table 18 shows a sample of the computations used to estimate average travel time, average delay, and total delay for data collected for the southbound direction on March 13, 2008. Table 19 provides a summary for the other days. Researchers calculated these measures based on average speeds and volumes at the various sensor locations used to detect queue presence during the lane closures.

	Table 1	8. Sampl	Table 18. Sample Analysis for Travel Time, Average Delay, and Total Delay for Collected Data on 3/13/2008.	for Trav	el Time, 1	Average L	Jelay, and	I Total De	lay for C	ollected D	ata on 3/.	13/2008.	
		With La	With Lane Closure		V	Without Lane Closure	me Closur	e.	Averag	Average Delay	$T_{\alpha \neq \alpha} I_{\alpha}$	Total Wabiala	
	Travé (n	Travel Time (min)	Speed	Speed (mph)	Trave. (m	Travel Time (min)	Speed	Speed (mph)	per Vehi (min)	per Vehicle (min)	I OLAL V Hours o	Hours of Delay	Traffic
Time	Senso	Sensor	Sensor	Sensor	Sensor	Sensor	Sensor	Sensor	Sensor	Sensor	Sensor	Sensor	Volume
	r ID	Ð	Ð	Э	Ð	ID	D	ID	D	ID	D	Д	(HdV)
	162.4	162.89	162.48	162.89	162.48	162.89	162.48	162.89	162.48	162.89	162.48	162.89	
	82	6	7	6	2	6	7	6	7	6	7	6	
9:00	ı	0.54	I	52	I	0.48	65	65	-	90'0	-	8.0	2,918
10:00	1.86	1.34	17	21	0.54	0.48	59	59	1.32	0.86	48.7	31.7	2,208
11:00	1.97	2.16	16	13	0.54	0.48	59	65	1.44	1.68	54.1	63.3	2,256
12:00	1.58	0.88	20	32	0.54	0.48	59	65	1.04	0.40	43.1	16.6	2,479
13:00	1.76	1.08	18	26	0.54	0.48	59	59	1.22	0.60	51.2	25.4	2,519
14:00	1.86	1.87	17	15	0.54	0.48	59	59	1.32	1.40	51.9	54.7	2,352
15:00	1.37	1.34	23	21	0.54	0.48	59	59	0.84	0.86	24.6	25.3	2,353
Average		3.12	22.4	.4	1.(1.02	5	59	2.10	10			2,441
		Total D	Total Delay Due to Lane Closure (Total Vehicle-Hours of Delay	to Lane C	losure (T	otal Vehid	cle-Hours	s of Delay)	(767	1.4	ı
Note: Dis	tance betw	reen sensors	Note: Distance between sensors 162.482 to 162.899 is 0.53 mile. Distance between sensors 62.899 to 163.421 is 0.47 mile. Sensor data obtained from location	162.899 is 0.	53 mile. D	.53 mile. Distance between sensors 62.899 to 163.421 is 0.47 mile. Sensor data obtaine	een sensors	62.899 to 10	53.421 is 0.4	47 mile. Ser 4 for both of	isor data obt	ained from l	ocation

Sensor data obtained from locati	oth of these locations.
s 62.899 to 163.421 is 0.47 mile. Se	om location 162.482 was used for b
162 899 is 0.53 mile Distance between sensors 62	lume data obtained from location 16
2.482 to 162.899 is 0.53 mile.	hree lanes; therefore, traffic vol
Note: Distance between sensors 16	162.899 was not consistent for all the

	I ubic I				Dutu ulo	iig iii 55 S	outinooun	
	Average Sp	beed (mph)	Average Ti (min		Average	Total	Length of	Average Volume
Date	With Lane Closure	Without Lane Closure	With Lane Closure	Without Lane Closure	Delay per Vehicle (minutes)	Vehicle - Hours of Delay	Queue (miles)	during Lane Closure (vph)
3/13/2008	22.4	59.0	1.5	0.5	1.0	491.4	1.0	2,441
3/14/2008	15.8	61.5	2.1	0.5	1.7	687.0	1.0	2,232
3/17/2008	19.6	58.5	2.1	0.5	1.6	589.8	1.0	2,317
3/19/2008	26.8	59.0	1.5	0.6	0.9	142.1	0.5	2,376
3/20/2008	23.0	59.3	3.0	0.9	2.1	822.0	2.5	3,528
3/24/2008	33.5	60.6	1.3	0.6	0.7	283.5	2.9	2,694
3/25/2008	37.0	58.0	0.9	0.5	0.3	16.5	0.5	2,638
3/26/2008	31.3	60.7	1.1	0.5	0.6	57.4	1.0	2,542
3/27/2008	20.1	61.0	1.7	0.5	1.2	451.4	1.0	2,293
3/28/2008	19.2	60.5	1.8	0.5	1.3	566.5	1.0	2,299
3/31/2008	31.7	62.0	1.3	0.5	0.8	69.2	0.5	2,227
4/1/2008	21.5	59.0	1.4	0.5	0.9	53.4	0.5	2,010
4/3/2008	29.8	58.0	1.0	0.5	0.5	56.5	0.5	2,248
4/8/2008	19.6	59.4	1.7	0.5	1.2	242.8	1.5	2,454
4/9/2008	23.3	61.5	1.6	0.5	1.0	726.7	2.0	2,452
4/10/2008	23.0	58.0	1.5	0.5	1.0	259.0	2.0	2,285
4/11/2008	22.7	58.0	1.5	0.5	1.0	337.9	1.0	2,292
4/15/2008	37.0	63.0	0.7	0.4	0.3	3.9	0.5	3,120
4/16/2008	24.0	59.0	2.6	1.0	1.6	239.4	1.9	2,560
4/17/2008	31.1	61.1	2.1	1.0	1.1	293.5	1.9	3,016
4/18/2008	30.2	59.0	2.3	1.1	1.2	309.1	1.9	3,127
4/22/2008	26.0	63.0	1.1	0.4	0.6	34.1	0.5	3,227
4/23/2008	42.0	62.0	0.6	0.4	0.2	8.4	0.5	3,396
4/24/2008	32.4	63.0	1.7	0.8	1.0	359.4	1.5	2,877
4/29/2008	34.5	62.0	1.1	0.5	0.6	47.2	0.5	3,317
Range	15.8-42.0	58.0-63.0	0.6-3.0	0.4-1.1	0.2-2.1	3.9-822.0	0.5-2.9	
50%-tile	26.0	60.5		0.5	1.0	259.0	1.0	
95%-tile	19.2	58.0	2.6	1.0	1.6	726.7	2.5	

 Table 19.
 Summary of Lane Closure Data along IH 35 Southbound.

Review of the results in Table 19 indicates that, on average, the impacts of the daily lane closures were not overly excessive at this site. However, one does see that the impact did vary substantially from day to day (as noted by the ranges in values shown at the bottom of the table), even though the lane closure was positioned at the same location and during the same times each day. Researchers further quantified the day-to-day variation in observations by computing both the median (50th percentile) and 95th percentile values of each of the measures, also shown at the bottom of the table. In the case of queue lengths and total vehicular delay per day, the 95th percentile value is nearly three times that of the average value measured. Such variation illustrates the importance of establishing ongoing monitoring programs of work zone impacts, rather than simply relying on predictive models based on average traffic volumes and work zone

capacities utilized during the design stage of a project. The variation in both traffic demands and work zone capacity from day to day contribute to much different outcomes in terms of delays, speeds, and traffic queues.

Comparison of queue length for data obtained from the researcher travel time runs and traffic sensor data is shown in Table 20. Queue lengths estimated via the traffic sensor data tended to be slightly shorter than those measured at the same time by the TTI researchers. In the northbound direction, there were several instances where the researchers identified a small queue that was not detected via the traffic surveillance data in or near the work zone. Part of this discrepancy is likely due to the use of a fairly long (15-minute) aggregation period of the sensor data prior to applying the work zone impact measurement procedures. The estimation of queue length via the sensors also tends to be more accurate (relative to the travel time runs) for longer queues than for shorter ones. For both directions of travel, researchers computed the average absolute error (AAE) and the absolute relative error (ARE) of the queue lengths. These terms, used previously to evaluate the accuracy of queue length and other performance measures associated with work zone lane closures, are computed as follows (*13*):

$$AAE = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} |O_i - E_i|}{n}$$
$$ARE = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{|O_i - E_i|}{O_i}}{n} \times 100\%$$

		Queue Leng	gth (mile) IH	Queue Leng	th (mile) IH
Date	Time	35 Sout	thbound	35 Nort	hbound
Date	Time	Travel	Traffic	Travel	Traffic
		Time Runs	Sensors	Time Runs	Sensors
	10:00-11:00	1.4	1.0	0.5	No Queue
3/17/2008	11:00-12:00	1.7	1.0	0.3	No Queue
	12:00-13:00	2.5	1.0	0.4	0.5
	10:00-11:00	1.2	0.5	-	-
3/20/2008	11:00-12:00	2.7	2.5	0.5	0.5
	12:00-13:00	1.7	0.5	0.9	1.5
	10:00-11:00	1.7	1.0	-	-
3/27/2008	11:00-12:00	0.8	1.0	-	-
	12:00-13:00	1.5	1.0	0.9	No Queue
	AAE	0.7	mile	0.4	mile
	ARE	49.	.9%	43.	5%

Table 20. Comparison of Queue Lengths for Data Obtained fromTravel Time Runs and Traffic Sensor Data.

As shown in Table 20, the average absolute error in queue length estimation via the traffic sensors was 0.7 mile in the southbound direction and 0.4 mile in the northbound. Expressed as a percentage, the average relative error of the queue length estimates was 49.9 percent in the southbound direction and 43.5 percent in the northbound direction.

Although TxDOT field personnel did not record queue length data on the days that TTI researchers collected travel time and queue length data, it was possible to compare queue lengths obtained from TxDOT field personnel to those estimated from traffic sensor data for a few days during the pilot test period. Table 21 presents the results of that comparison. In a few instances, field personnel reported a queue but the queue was not detected based on traffic sensor data. In the remaining instances, estimates of queue lengths by the two methods vary somewhat, with no clear trend of one method either over- or underestimating queue lengths relative to the other. The disagreement over queue length presence in 4 of the 10 measurements shown in Table 21 led to higher average absolute errors and average relative errors than was computed for Table 20.

		Queue Leng	gth (mile)
Date	Time	TxDOT Field	Traffic
		Personnel	Sensors
3/13/2008	11:00-13:00	0.7	1.0
3/13/2008	13:00-15:00	0.3	1.0
3/31/2008	12:00-13:00	0.9	0.52
4/01/2008	12:00-13:00	1.0	¹ No Queue
4/02/2008	9:20-10:00	1.4	No Queue
4/14/2008	12:30-13:30	1.5	No Queue
4/16/2008	11:00-12:00	1.0	² No Queue
4/17/2008	9:30-10:30	0.9	1.93
4/18/2008	10:00-11:00	0.9	0.45
4/28/2008	10:30-10:45	No Queue	No Queue
4/28/2008	11:15-11:45	No Queue	No Queue
	AAE	0.7 m	ile
	ARE	83.2	%

 Table 21. Comparison of Queue Lengths along IH 35 Southbound for Data Obtained from

 Traffic Sensors and Data Collected from TxDOT Field Personnel.

¹Queue initiated at 9:00 and ended at 10:45.

²Queue initiated at 12:00 and ended at 14:00.

WORK ZONE SAFETY MONITORING PILOT TESTING

A freeway and frontage road widening project on State Highway (SH) 358 in Corpus Christi was selected as a pilot test site for the recommended safety monitoring procedures. The project consists of four major stages and includes (in addition to widening) installation of high-mast lighting, ramp construction and reconstruction, sign installation, and overlays. Construction activities began on January 9, 2007, and are on-going. The project limits for this analysis are defined by Carroll Lane (control section 0617-01; milepoint [MP] 7.3) and Airline Road (control section 0617-01; milepoint 10.6). Table 22 and Table 23 summarize the available crash and traffic data.

No major traffic diversions from the SH 358 corridor were expected or recorded during construction; traffic numbers identical to 2006 numbers are assumed for 2007 and 2008. Weighting the ADT average by segment length resulted in the following representative daily traffic estimates for the project:

- 2005: 106,380 vehicles per day and
- 2006 2008: 101, 330 vehicles per day

The pre-work zone accident rate is estimated by:

$$\frac{\left(\sum_{i=2005,2006}N_i\right)*1,000,000}{\sum_{i=2005,2006}(ADT_i*L*365)} = \frac{(587+429)*1,000,000}{106,380*3.3*365+101,330*3.3*365} \approx 4 \text{ accidents per MVM}$$

Highway	Control Section	Beginning Milepoint	Ending Milepoint	ADT 2006	ADT 2005
SH 358	0617-01	6.485	7.518	125,840	135,000
SH 358	0617-01	7.518	7.985	125,840	135,000
SH 358	0617-01	7.985	8.644	103,060	110,300
SH 358	0617-01	8.644	9.983	103,060	110,300
SH 358	0617-01	9.983	11.227	68,540	61,930

Table 22. Traffic Data for Pilot Test Project.

(Control Section	n 0617-01	; Milepoints 7.3 – 10.6)
Month	Year	Number of Accidents
January	2005	50
February	2005	52
March	2005	65
April	2005	46
May	2005	42
June	2005	33
July	2005	47
August	2005	46
September	2005	36
October	2005	43
November	2005	50
December	2005	77
January	2006	41
February	2006	45
March	2006	39
April	2006	29
May	2006	43
June	2006	34
July	2006	24
August	2006	26
September	2006	25
October	2006	33
November	2006	31
December	2006	59
January	2007	45
February	2007	36
March	2007	46
April	2007	36
May	2007	40
June	2007	45
July	2007	64
August	2007	46
September	2007	46
October	2007	48
November	2007	39
December	2007	30
January	2008	36
February	2008	25
March	2008	27
April	2008	24

Table 23. Accident Data for Pilot Test Project(Control Section 0617-01; Milepoints 7.3 – 10.6).

Figure 26 illustrates the use of Figure 18 to assess monitoring options for the pilot test project. The figure illustrates six levels of possible data aggregation, ranging from monitoring the entire work zone in both directions to monitoring 0.5 mile segments in each direction separately. A monthly or quarterly monitoring frequency is probably practical for all aggregation levels, confirming that this particular multi-year project is a good candidate for real-time safety analyses. The following subsections include safety analyses and results for several different segment lengths (e.g., entire project, 1-mile segments, etc.). The analyses presented for all cases are for both directions of travel. Similar analyses can be conducted for each direction separately (note: the actual monitoring steps are not dependent on daily traffic but an estimate of the ratio of traffic in the work zone to pre-work zone conditions).





¹ Monitoring entire work zone; both directions together

² Monitoring one mile segments; both directions together

³ Monitoring one-half mile segments; both directions together

⁴ Monitoring entire work zone; each direction separately

⁵ Monitoring one mile segments; each direction separately

⁶ Monitoring one-half mile segments; each direction separately



ANALYSIS OF ENTIRE WORK ZONE: BOTH DIRECTIONS TOGETHER

Table 24 and Table 25 summarize the results of a before-during comparison of work zone safety using procedures described elsewhere (14). The analyses were of the entire work zone segment in both directions of travel, and the results are used as a basis for comparison to the graphical procedures outlined. The following terminology (in addition to the parameters introduced above) is adapted from (14):

- $\hat{\delta}$ = an estimate of the difference in expected work zone accident frequency to the expected accident frequency had the work zone not been in place during the analysis time period $(\hat{\lambda} \hat{\pi})$,
- $\hat{\sigma}(\hat{\delta})$ = an estimate of the standard deviation of $\hat{\delta}$,
- $\hat{\theta}$ = an estimate of the ratio of expected work zone accidents to the number of expected accidents had the work zone not been in place during the analysis time period $((\hat{\lambda}/\hat{\pi})/|1 + V\hat{A}R\{\hat{\pi}\}/\hat{\pi}^2|),$
- $\hat{\sigma}(\hat{\theta}) =$ an estimate of the standard deviation of $\hat{\theta}$,
- $\hat{\theta}\%$ = an estimate of the percent change in expected work zone accidents to the number of expected accidents had the work zone not been in place during the analysis time period $(\hat{\theta}-1)$,
- $\hat{\sigma}(\hat{\theta}\%)$ = an estimate of the standard deviation of $\hat{\theta}\%$, and
- $\hat{\delta}/\hat{\sigma}(\hat{\delta})$ = a test statistic indicating the distance of $\hat{\delta}$ from zero in terms of its standard deviation (e.g., if $\hat{\delta} = 4$ and $\hat{\sigma}(\hat{\delta}) = 3$, then $\hat{\delta}$ is approximately 1.33 standard deviations away from zero).

Only two years of before data were available for the pilot test. For example, the number of accidents that would have occurred in July 2007 had the work zone not been in place is estimated using data from July 2006 and July 2005. Therefore, the ratio of the work zone analysis period to the designated before period (r_d) is equal to 0.5 in Table 24 and all other subsequent tables that summarize the safety computations. It is recommended that three years of before data be used, and the thresholds graphically represented in Figure 26 are based on this recommendation. The pilot test offers a good opportunity to evaluate how the graphical procedures perform when less than three years of before data are available. The overall project traffic estimates were used to estimate the ratio of traffic in the work zone to traffic on the same segment and during the same calendar period for three years prior (\hat{r}_{tf}); the average of 106,380 and 101,330 vehicles per day for the before period and 101,330 vehicles per day for the work zone resulted in a value of 0.98 for \hat{r}_{tf} .

The results in Table 24 show a consecutive five-month period (June 2007 through October 2007) with increases in expected accident frequencies ranging from 27 percent \pm 23 percent to 81 percent \pm 31 percent. Results of the quarterly analyses summarized in Table 25 are consistent with the results in Table 24; however, one disadvantage of longer work zone analysis periods is evident. The quarterly analysis reports a 36 percent increase in expected accident frequency from May 2007 to July 2007. The aggregation into quarters actually masks the observed pattern of no increase in May 2007, but an 81 percent increase in July 2007. This finding could be important, depending on the phasing and work features that were present, or that may have changed, during that particular time period.

Table 26 and Table 27 summarize the results of the graphical analysis approach (e.g., Figure 26). The conclusions reached using the graph are consistent with the conclusions obtained from the more intensive computational approach. There was a significant increase in expected accident frequency for five consecutive months (June 2007 through October 2007). The increase was greater than 20 percent for two of those months (July 2007 and September 2007) and was greater than 40 percent in July 2007. The three-month analysis showed increases greater than 20 percent for two quarters (May 2007 through July 2007 and August 2007 through October 2007). The conclusions regarding these increases in expected accident frequency are made with 90 percent confidence.

Table 24. Results of Computational Saf	ults o	f Com	putatio	nal Saf	ety An	alysis:	Entire Wor	fety Analysis: Entire Work Zone; Both Directions Together; One-Month Monitoring.	h Directi	ons Tog	ether;	One-Mo	nth Mor	nitoring.
	Γ	К	r_d	\hat{r}_{tf}	$\hat{\pi}$	Ÿ	$V\hat{A}R\{\hat{\pi}\}$	$V\hat{A}R\{\hat{\lambda}\}$	ŝ	$\hat{\sigma}(\hat{\delta})$	$\hat{ heta}$	$\hat{\sigma}(\hat{ heta})$	$\hat{ heta}_{0}^{*}$	$\hat{\sigma} \Big(\hat{ heta}_{\infty} \Big)$
January 2007	45	91	0.50	0.98	44.6	45	21.8	45	0.4	8.2	1.00	0.18	0	18
February 2007	36	97	0.50	0.98	47.5	36	23.3	36	-11.5	7.7	0.75	0.14	-25	14
March 2007	46	104	0.50	0.98	51.0	46	25.0	46	-5.0	8.4	0.89	0.16	-11	16
April 2007	36	75	0.50	0.98	36.8	36	18.0	36	-0.8	7.3	0.97	0.19	-3	19
May 2007	40	85	0.50	0.98	41.7	40	20.4	40	-1.7	7.8	0.95	0.18	-5	18
June 2007	45	67	0.50	0.98	32.8	45	16.1	45	12.2	7.8	1.35	0.26	35	26
July 2007	64	71	0.50	0.98	34.8	64	17.0	64	29.2	9.0	1.81	0.31	81	31
August 2007	46	72	0.50	0.98	35.3	46	17.3	46	10.7	8.0	1.29	0.24	29	24
September 2007	46	61	0.50	0.98	29.9	46	14.6	46	16.1	7.8	1.51	0.29	51	29
October 2007	48	76	0.50	0.98	37.2	48	18.2	48	10.8	8.1	1.27	0.23	27	23
November 2007	39	81	0.50	0.98	39.7	39	19.4	39	-0.7	7.6	0.97	0.19	-3	19
December 2007	30	136	0.50	0.98	66.6	30	32.7	30	-36.6	7.9	0.45	0.09	-55	9
January 2008	36	91	0.50	0.98	44.6	36	21.8	36	-8.6	7.6	0.80	0.16	-20	16
February 2008	25	97	0.50	0.98	47.5	25	23.3	25	-22.5	6.9	0.52	0.12	-48	12
March 2008	27	104	0.50	0.98	51.0	27	25.0	27	-24.0	7.2	0.52	0.11	-48	11
April 2008	24	75	0.50	0.98	36.8	24	18.0	24	-12.8	6.5	0.64	0.15	-36	15

Table 25. Results of Computational Safety Analysis: Entire Work Zone; Both Directions Together; Quarterly Monitoring.	of Co	mput	ational	Safety	Analys	iis: En	tire Work	Zone; Boi	th Direct	tions To	gether	r; Quart	terly Mo	mitoring.
	Γ	К	r_d	\hat{r}_{tf}	\hat{r}_{if} $\hat{\pi}$	ŕr	$\hat{\lambda} = V \hat{A} R\{ \hat{\pi} \} = V \hat{A} R\{ \hat{\lambda} \} = \hat{\delta} = \hat{\delta}(\hat{\delta}) = \hat{\theta} = \hat{\sigma}(\hat{\theta}) = \hat{\theta} \gamma_0 = \hat{\sigma}(\hat{\theta})$	$V\hat{A}R\{\hat{\lambda}\}$	ô	$\hat{\sigma}(\hat{\delta})$	$\hat{ heta}$	$\hat{\sigma}(\hat{ heta})$	$\hat{ heta}\%$	$\hat{\sigma} \! \left(\! \hat{ heta} \! _{\!$
February 2007 - April 2007	118	276	118 276 0.50	0.98	0.98 135.2 118	118	66.3	118	118 -17.2 13.6 0.87 0.10 -13	13.6	0.87	0.10	-13	10
May 2007- July 2007	149	149 223	0.50	0.98	0.98 109.3 149	149	53.5	149	39.7 14.2 1.36 0.14 36	14.2	1.36	0.14	36	14
August 2007 - October 2007	140	140 209 0.50		0.98	0.98 102.4 140	140	50.2	140	37.6 13.8 1.36 0.15	13.8	1.36	0.15	36	15
November 2007- January 2008	105	308	105 308 0.50	0.98	0.98 150.9 105	105	74.0	105	105 -45.9 13.4 0.69 0.08 -31	13.4	0.69	0.08	-31	8
February 2008 - April 2008	76	276	76 276 0.50	0.98	0.98 135.2 76	76	66.3	76	-59.2 11.9 0.56 0.07	11.9	0.56	0.07	-44	7

Table 26. Results	of G	raphic	cal Safe	ety Ana	lysis:	Entire	Work Zone; Both Di	irections Together; O	Table 26. Results of Graphical Safety Analysis: Entire Work Zone; Both Directions Together; One-Month Monitoring.
	-	Л	А	ž	<ţ	, ,	Threshold for	Threshold for Greater	Threshold for Greater
	L	2	p_{I}	ĥ,	W.	, 7	Increase	than 20% Increase	than 40% Increase
January 2007	45	91	0.50	0.98	44.6	45	56		
February 2007	36	67	0.50	0.98	47.5	36	**		
March 2007	46	104	0.50	0.98	51.0	46			
April 2007	36	75	0.50	0.98	36.8	36			
May 2007	40	85	0.50	0.98	41.7	40			
June 2007	45	67	0.50	0.98	32.8	45	42	50	
July 2007	64	71	0.50	0.98	34.8	64	45	53	61
August 2007	46	72	0.50	0.98	35.3	46	45	53	
September 2007	46	61	0.50	0.98	29.9	46	39	46	53
October 2007	48	92	0.50	0.98	37.2	48	47	55	
November 2007	39	81	0.50	0.98	39.7	39			
December 2007	30	136	0.50	0.98	66.6	30			
January 2008	36	91	0.50	0.98	44.6	36			
February 2008	25	76	0.50	0.98	47.5	25			
March 2008	27	104	0.50	0.98	51.0	27			
April 2008	24	75	0.50	0.98	36.8	24			

¹ the number in this column is compared to the accident thresholds

Table 27. Result	s of Gr	aphic	al Safe	ty Anal	lysis: Eı	ntire V	Vork Zone; Both Dir	Table 27. Results of Graphical Safety Analysis: Entire Work Zone; Both Directions Together; Quarterly Monitoring.	uarterly Monitoring.
	Ļ	Х	. <i>1</i>	Ŷ.	<i>ب</i> ،	î 1	Threshold for	Threshold for greater Threshold for greater	Threshold for greater
	1	4	р,			2	increase	than 20% increase	than 40% increase
February 2007 -	118	118 276	0.50	0.98	0.98 135.2	118	* *		
1007 11104		-							
May 2007-	1 40	140 773	0 2 0	000	0 50 0 08 100 3 140	1 40	175	071	172
July 2007	143	C77	00.0	0.70	C.601	149	C71	147	C/1
August 2007 -	1 40		020	000	1001	1 40	110	UV I	0.71
October 2007	140	140 209	<u>nc.</u> u	0.70	0.98 102.4	140	110	140	102
November 2007-	105	006	J	000		105			
January 2008	CUI		2	0.70	6.001	CUI			
February 2008 -	76	720	020	000	1250	76			
April 2008	0/	0/7 0/	UC.U	0.70	7.001 06.0	0/			

¹ the number in this column is compared to the accident thresholds

ANALYSIS OF ONE MILE SEGMENTS: BOTH DIRECTIONS TOGETHER

Table 28 through Table 33 summarize the results of a before-during comparison of work zone safety as previously described, but with the work zone divided into 1-mile segments. Results show the advantage of segmenting the work zone into smaller segments, which allows for greater insights into the timing and locations of safety reductions. Reductions in safety are evident at some locations during months other than the five (June 2007 through October 2007) identified above. Results of both the monthly and quarterly analysis are consistent, but with some dilution resulting from data aggregation. For example, the 72 percent increase observed from milepoint 8.5 to 9.5 in April 2007 is balanced by reductions in February 2007 and March 2007. Only a 2 percent \pm 20 percent reduction is observed when all three months are combined.

Table 34 through Table 39 summarize the results of the graphical analysis approach (e.g., Figure 26) Again, the conclusions reached using the graphical approach are consistent with the conclusions obtained from the more intensive computation approach. It is important to note that the ability to discern an actual reduction in safety from a random increase in accidents is more difficult as the monitoring period and segment lengths become shorter. For example, a 46 percent increase in accident frequency was observed from milepoint 7.5 – 8.5 during September 2007. However, the graphical approach shows that there was not enough evidence to conclude that this increase was actually due to a safety reduction. Results of the quarterly analysis on this same segment show that there was a detectable safety reduction from August 2007 through October 2007.

Increases in expected accident frequency greater than 20 percent occurred from milepoint 8.5 - 9.5 during April 2007 and September 2007 and during the quarter of May 2007 through July 2007. An increase also occurred during the quarter of August 2007 through October 2007. The results show that conclusions may depend on how consecutive three-month periods are combined into quarters. Ultimately, the analyst must apply judgment along with knowledge of the beginning and ending dates of major construction phases in determining the appropriate time ranges to analyze.

Increases, some relatively large, in expected accident frequency were also observed on the segment bounded by milepoints 9.5 and 10.5. The increases were observed from January 2007 through March 2007, June 2007 through October 2007, and January 2008. Increases were greater than 40 percent for June 2007 through August 2007 and greater than 20 percent in October 2007. Results of the quarterly analysis are also consistent with these conclusions. Again, the conclusions regarding increases in expected accident frequency are made with 90 percent confidence.

Table 28. Results of Computation	ults of	Com	putatio	nal Sai	fety An	alysis:	nal Safety Analysis: MP 7.5 – 8.5; Both Directions Together; One-Month Monitoring.	8.5; Both	Direction	ns Toget	ther; O	ne-Mon	th Moni	toring.
	Γ	K	r_d	\hat{r}_{tf}	$\hat{\pi}$	$\gamma\gamma$	$V\hat{A}R\{\hat{\pi}\}$	$V\hat{A}R\{\hat{\lambda}\}$	ŝ	$\hat{\sigma}(\hat{\delta})$	$\hat{ heta}$	$\hat{\sigma}(\hat{ heta})$	$\hat{ heta}_{\%}$	$\hat{\sigma} \! \left(\! \hat{ heta} \! _{\!$
January 2007	10	32	0.50	0.98	15.7	10	7.7	10	-5.7	4.2	0.62	0.22	-38	22
February 2007	7	33	0.50	0.98	16.2	7	7.9	7	-9.2	3.9	0.42	0.17	-58	17
March 2007	11	42	0.50	0.98	20.6	11	10.1	11	-9.6	4.6	0.52	0.17	-48	17
April 2007	9	27	0.50	0.98	13.2	9	6.5	9	-7.2	3.5	0.44	0.19	-56	19
May 2007	14	27	0.50	0.98	13.2	14	6.5	14	0.8	4.5	1.02	0.32	2	32
June 2007	2	17	0.50	0.98	8.3	5	4.1	5	-3.3	3.0	0.57	0.27	-43	27
July 2007	15	28	0.50	0.98	13.7	15	6.7	15	1.3	4.7	1.06	0.33	9	33
August 2007	11	21	0.50	0.98	10.3	11	5.0	11	0.7	4.0	1.02	0.36	2	36
September 2007	10	13	0.50	0.98	6.4	10	3.1	10	3.6	3.6	1.46	0.57	46	57
October 2007	14	19	0.50	0.98	9.3	14	4.6	14	4.7	4.3	1.43	0.48	43	48
November 2007	9	17	0.50	0.98	8.3	6	4.1	9	-2.3	3.2	0.68	0.31	-32	31
December 2007	14	38	0.50	0.98	18.6	14	9.1	14	-4.6	4.8	0.73	0.22	-27	22
January 2008	13	32	0.50	0.98	15.7	13	7.7	13	-2.7	4.5	0.80	0.26	-20	26
February 2008	7	33	0.50	0.98	16.2	7	7.9	7	-9.2	3.9	0.42	0.17	-58	17
March 2008	9	42	0.50	0.98	20.6	6	10.1	9	-14.6	4.0	0.28	0.12	-72	12
April 2008	7	27	0.50	0.98	13.2	7	6.5	7	-6.2	3.7	0.51	0.21	-49	21

vitoring.	$\hat{\sigma}(\hat{ ho}_{0\%})$
nth Mon	$\hat{A}0\hat{\zeta}$
tions Together; One-Month	$\hat{\sigma}(\hat{a})$
ther; (Ŷ
s Toge	$\hat{x}(\hat{s})$
oth Direction	‹بر
.5; Both l	$V\hat{\lambda}R\{\hat{j}\}$
onal Safety Analysis: MP 7.5 – 8.5; Both	$V\hat{A}R\{\hat{\pi}\}$
nalysis:	(6
fety A	÷
nal Sai	\hat{F}_{a}
putatio	۲.
Com	Х
ults of	Ţ
Rest	
Table 28.	

itoring.	$\hat{\sigma} \Big(\hat{ heta} _{\infty} \Big)$	42	25	27	56	48	31	68	35	53	33	34	12	25	16	22	46
ith Moni	$\hat{ heta}_{\infty}^{\prime}$	41	-22	-23	72	40	-1	151	2	92	9-	18	-72	-37	-64	-44	29
ne-Mon	$\hat{\sigma}(\hat{ heta})$	0.42	0.25	0.27	0.56	0.48	0.31	0.89	0.35	0.53	0.33	0.34	0.12	0.25	0.16	0.22	0.46
ther; C	$\hat{ heta}$	1.41	0.78	0.77	1.72	1.40	66.0	2.51	1.02	1.76	0.94	1.18	0.28	0.63	0.36	0.56	1.29
ns Toge	$\hat{\sigma}(\hat{\delta})$	4.9	4.6	4.2	4.5	4.2	4.6	4.3	4.2	4.9	4.1	5.0	4.0	3.7	3.7	3.8	4.0
Directio	ô	5.8	-3.2	-2.7	7.2	4.2	0.3	10.1	0.7	8.7	-0.3	3.3	-14.6	-4.3	-10.2	-5.7	3.2
9.5; Both	$V\hat{A}R\{\hat{\lambda}\}$	18	13	11	16	13	14	16	12	19	11	18	9	8	9	8	12
al Safety Analysis: MP 8.5 – 9.5; Both Directions Together; One-Month Monitoring.	$V\hat{A}R\{\hat{\pi}\}$	6.0	6.7	6.7	4.3	4.3	6.7	2.9	5.5	5.0	5.5	7.2	10.1	6.0	7.9	6.7	4.3
nalysis	ŕ	18	13	11	16	13	14	16	12	19	11	18	9	8	9	8	12
nfety A	$\hat{\pi}$	12.3	16.2	13.7	8.8	8.8	13.7	5.9	11.3	10.3	11.3	14.7	20.6	12.3	16.2	13.7	8.8
onal Sa	\hat{r}_{tf}	0.98	86.0	96.0	86.0	0.98	0.98	0.98	86.0	86.0	86.0	0.98	0.98	96.0	0.98	0.98	0.98
putatio	r_d	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50
f Com	K	25	33	28	18	18	28	12	23	21	23	30	42	25	33	28	18
ults o	Γ	18	13	11	16	13	14	16	12	19	11	18	9	8	6	8	12
Table 29. Results of Computation		January 2007	February 2007	March 2007	April 2007	May 2007	June 2007	July 2007	August 2007	September 2007	October 2007	November 2007	December 2007	January 2008	February 2008	March 2008	April 2008

. •	
20	%
in	â(â
0Ľ	
it	
uc	
Ν	2
	Ď,
th	
n	
Ν	
	Ĵ,
ne	
:; Une-M	
l'ogether; O	
el	Ŷ
th	
e e	
õ	ŝ
ctions To	$\hat{\sigma}(\hat{s})$
US	
0	
cti	
Je.	<در
) I I	
n Directi	
th	
Ö	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~
Η	Ř
ŝ	VÂR
6.	
– 9.5; Botł	
S.	\widetilde{a}
Ś	$V\hat{A}R\{\hat{\pi}\}$
4	\hat{AR}
Ν	1
Iysis: MP 8.5	
SIS	
N	(7
la	
ĀI	
7	
	11
ety	ά,
afety	τ
Safety	ψ
al Safety	
nal Safety	\hat{r}_x $\hat{\pi}$
ional Safety Anal	
ational Safety	
utational Safety	
uputational Safety	
omputational Safety	
Computational Safety	
f Computational Safety	
of Computational Safety	
ts of Computational Safety	
ults of Computational Safety	
esults of Computational Safety	
Results of Computational Safety	
. Results of Computational Safety	
29. Results of Computational Safety	
e 29. Results of Computational Safety	
ble 29. Results of Computational Safety	
able 29. Results of Computational Safety	
Table 29. Results of Computational Safety	
Table 29. Results of Computational Safety	

toring.	$\hat{\sigma} (\hat{ heta} \%)$	32		34	34 42	34 42 30	34 42 30 21	34 42 30 21 68	34 42 30 30 68 68 55	34 42 30 30 68 68 46	34 32 30 30 30 55 55 41 41	$\begin{array}{c} 34 \\ 42 \\ 30 \\ 30 \\ 68 \\ 68 \\ 68 \\ 68 \\ 68 \\ 41 \\ 41 \\ 41 \\ 41 \\ 41 \\ 41 \\ 41 \\ 4$	$\begin{array}{c} 34 \\ 42 \\ 42 \\ 55 \\ 68 \\ 68 \\ 68 \\ 68 \\ 46 \\ 41 \\ 46 \\ 29 \\ 29 \\ 29 \\ 29 \\ 29 \\ 29 \\ 29 \\ 2$	$\begin{array}{c} 34\\ 34\\ 42\\ 30\\ 33\\ 30\\ 33\\ 30\\ 34\\ 42\\ 42\\ 41\\ 41\\ 41\\ 41\\ 41\\ 14\\ 12\\ 33\\ 30\\ 32\\ 30\\ 30\\ 30\\ 30\\ 30\\ 30\\ 30\\ 30\\ 30\\ 30$	$\begin{array}{c} 34\\ 42\\ 30\\ 55\\ 55\\ 68\\ 68\\ 68\\ 68\\ 68\\ 41\\ 41\\ 46\\ 41\\ 41\\ 41\\ 41\\ 41\\ 41\\ 41\\ 41\\ 41\\ 41$	$\begin{array}{c} 34\\ 42\\ 42\\ 30\\ 55\\ 55\\ 68\\ 68\\ 68\\ 68\\ 68\\ 68\\ 14\\ 14\\ 14\\ 14\\ 14\\ 14\\ 29\\ 29\\ 29\\ 29\\ 28\\ 30\\ 28\\ 28\\ 28\\ 28\\ 28\\ 28\\ 28\\ 28\\ 28\\ 28$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
<u>al Salety Analysis: MP 9.5 - 10.5; Bout Directions 1 ogetner; One-Month Monitoring.</u>	$\hat{ heta}_{\%}$	5	¢	y	9 58	9 58 9-	9 58 -9 -36	9 58 -9 -36 141	9 58 -9 -36 141 118	9 58 -9 -36 -36 -141 118 118 66	9 58 -9 -36 -36 -36 -36 -36 66 66 54	9 58 -9 -9 -36 -141 141 118 118 66 66 66	9 58 -9 -9 -36 -36 66 66 66 66 -8 -8	9 58 -9 -9 -36 -36 66 66 66 66 66 -8 -8 -60 -60	9 58 -9 -9 -9 141 141 118 66 66 66 66 -8 -8 -1	9 58 -9 -9 -9 141 141 118 66 66 66 -8 -8 -60 -60 -1 -1 -1	$\begin{array}{c cccc} & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & &$
Iolvi-auc	$\hat{\sigma}(\hat{ heta})$	0.32	0.27	0.04	0.42	0.34 0.42 0.30	0.34 0.42 0.30 0.21	0.30 0.42 0.30 0.21 0.68	$\begin{array}{c} 0.34 \\ 0.42 \\ 0.30 \\ 0.21 \\ 0.68 \\ 0.55 \end{array}$	0.34 0.42 0.30 0.21 0.68 0.68 0.55 0.55	0.34 0.42 0.30 0.68 0.68 0.46 0.46	0.34 0.42 0.30 0.68 0.68 0.46 0.46 0.41	$\begin{array}{c} 0.34 \\ 0.42 \\ 0.21 \\ 0.68 \\ 0.68 \\ 0.68 \\ 0.46 \\ 0.41 \\ 0.46 \\ 0.29 \\ 0.29 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.34 \\ 0.42 \\ 0.30 \\ 0.21 \\ 0.46 \\ 0.46 \\ 0.46 \\ 0.46 \\ 0.29 \\ 0.14 \\ 0.14 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.34 \\ 0.42 \\ 0.30 \\ 0.21 \\ 0.46 \\ 0.46 \\ 0.41 \\ 0.46 \\ 0.41 \\ 0.46 \\ 0.29 \\ 0.14 \\ 0.30 \\ 0.30 \\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.34\\ 0.42\\ 0.30\\ 0.21\\ 0.46\\ 0.46\\ 0.46\\ 0.46\\ 0.46\\ 0.29\\ 0.29\\ 0.28\\ 0.28\\ 0.28\\ 0.28\\ 0.28\\ 0.28\\ 0.28\\ 0.29\\ 0.28\\$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.34\\ 0.42\\ 0.30\\ 0.46\\ 0.46\\ 0.46\\ 0.46\\ 0.46\\ 0.29\\ 0.28\\ 0.28\\ 0.26\\$
	$\hat{\theta}$	1.05	1.09	1.58	0.91	0.64	2.41	2.18	1.66	1.24	1.66	0.92	0.40	> • • •	0.99	0.99	0.99 0.80 0.79
	$\hat{\sigma}(\hat{\delta})$	4.8	4.6	5.6	4.4	4.6	5.6	6.1	5.3	4.4	5.3	4.6	4.7	47		4.2	4.4
	ŷ	1.3	1.8	9.3	-0.7	-6.1	15.7	17.3	9.3	3.2	9.3	-0.7	-14.5	0.3		-2.2	-2.2 -2.7
	$V\hat{A}R\{\hat{\lambda}\}$	16	15	24	13	12	26	31	22	14	22	14	10	15		11	11 12
	$V\hat{A}R\{\hat{\pi}\}$	7.2	6.5	7.2	6.7	8.9	5.0	6.7	6.2	5.3	6.2	7.2	12.0	7.2		6.5	6.5 7.2
ary sus.	ŕĸ	16	15	24	13	12	26	31	22	14	22	14	10	15		11	11 12
	$\hat{\pi}$	14.7	13.2	14.7	13.7	18.1	10.3	13.7	12.7	10.8	12.7	14.7	24.5	14.7		13.2	13.2 14.7
	\hat{r}_{g}	0.98	86.0	86.0	86.0	86.0	86.0	86.0	86.0	86.0	86.0	86.0	86.0	86.0		0.98	0.98 0.98
	r_d	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50		0.50	0.50
	К	30	27	30	28	37	21	28	26	22	26	30	50	30		27	27 30
	Γ	16	15	24	13	12	26	31	22	14	22	14	10	15	• •	11	11 12
		January 2007	February 2007	March 2007	April 2007	May 2007	June 2007	July 2007	August 2007	September 2007	October 2007	November 2007	December 2007	January 2008	February 2008	I cui uai y zuuo	March 2008

Table 31. Results of Computation	sults of	Com	putatio	nal Saj	fety An:	alysis:	nal Safety Analysis: MP 7.5 – 8.5; Both Directions Together; Quarterly Monitoring.	.5; Both I	Direction	ns Togei	ther; C	Juarter	y Monit	oring.	
	Γ	K	r_d	\hat{r}_{tf}	$\hat{\pi}$	ŕ	$V\hat{A}R\{\hat{\pi}\}$	$V\hat{A}R\{\hat{\lambda}\}$	ô	$\hat{\sigma}(\hat{\delta})$	$\hat{ heta}$	$\hat{\sigma}(\hat{ heta})$	$\hat{ heta}_{\infty}^{0,0}$	$\hat{\sigma} \! \left(\! \hat{ heta} \! _{\!$	
February 2007 - April 2007	24	102	0.50	0.98	50.0	24	24.5	24	-26.0	7.0	0.48	0.11	-52	11	
May 2007- July 2007	34	72	0.50	0.98	35.3	34	17.3	34	-1.3	7.2	0.95	0.20	-5	20	
August 2007 - October 2007	35	53	0.50	0.98	26.0	35	12.7	35	9.0	6.9	1.32	0.28	32	28	
November 2007- January 2008	33	87	0.50	0.98	42.6	33	20.9	33	-9.6	7.3	0.77	0.15	-23	15	
February 2008 - April 2008	20	102	0.50	0.98	50.0	20	24.5	20	-30.0	6.7	0.40	0.10	-60	10	_
Table 32. Results of Computational Safety Analysis: MP 8.5 – 9.5; Both Directions Together; Quarterly Monitoring.	sults of	. Comj	putatio	nal Saf	fety Ani	alysis:	MP 8.5 – 9	.5; Both I	Direction	ns Toget	ther; Ç	Juarter	y Monit	oring.	
	Γ	К	r_d	\hat{r}_{y}	$\hat{\pi}$	Ÿ	$V\hat{A}R\{\hat{\pi}\}$	$V\hat{A}R\{\hat{\lambda}\}$	ŝ	$\hat{\sigma}(\hat{\delta})$	$\hat{ heta}$	$\hat{\sigma}(\hat{ heta})$	$\hat{ heta}_{\%}$	$\hat{\sigma} (\hat{ heta}^{0\%})$	
February 2007 -				0									6	20	

1 able 32. Results of Computational Safety Analysis: MP 8.5 – 9.5; Both Directions Together; Quarterly Monitoring.	sults of	Com	outatio	nal Sai	tety An:	alysıs:	2 – C.8 AM	Lot Soth	Direction	ns Loge	ther; (Juarterl	y Monit	oring.
	Γ	\mathbf{L} K r_d	r_d	\hat{r}_{tf}	$\hat{\pi}$	Ÿ	$\hat{\mathcal{X}}$ $V\hat{A}R\{\hat{\pi}\}$	$V\hat{A}R\{\hat{\lambda}\}$	$V\hat{A}R\{\hat{\lambda}\}$ $\hat{\delta}$ $\hat{\sigma}(\hat{\delta})$ $\hat{\theta}$ $\hat{\sigma}(\hat{\theta})$	$\hat{\sigma}(\hat{\delta})$	$\hat{ heta}$	$\hat{\sigma}(\hat{ heta})$	$\hat{ heta}_{0}^{\prime\prime}$	$\hat{\sigma} \! \left(\! \hat{ heta} \! _{ 0 \! \! \! \! \! \! \! \! \! \! \! \! \! \! \! \! \! \! $
February 2007 - April 2007	40		79 0.50	0.98	0.98 38.7 40	40	19.0	40	1.3	1.3 7.7 1.02 0.20	1.02	0.20	2	20
May 2007- July 2007	43		58 0.50	0.98	0.98 28.4 43	43	13.9	43	14.6	14.6 7.5 1.49 0.29	1.49	0.29	49	29
August 2007 - October 2007	42		67 0.50	0.98	0.98 32.8 42	42	16.1	42	9.2	9.2 7.6 1.26 0.24	1.26	0.24	26	24
November 2007- January 2008	32	97	97 0.50	0.98	0.98 47.5 32	32	23.3	32	-15.5	-15.5 7.4 0.67 0.13	0.67	0.13	-33	13
February 2008 - April 2008	26	6 <i>L</i>	79 0.50	0.98	38.7 26	26	19.0	26	-12.7 6.7 0.66 0.15	6.7	0.66	0.15	-34	15

Table 33. Results of Computational Safety Analysis: MP 9.5 – 10.5; Both Directions Together; Quarterly Monitoring.	ults of	Comp	utatior	nal Safé	ety Ana	lysis:	MP 9.5 – 1	0.5; Both	Directio	ns Tog	ether; (Quarter	ly Moni	toring.
	Γ	К	r_d	\hat{r}_{if}	$\hat{\pi}$	ŕK	$\hat{\lambda} = V \hat{A} R\{\hat{\pi}\} = V \hat{A} R\{\hat{\lambda}\} = \hat{\delta} = \hat{\delta}(\hat{\delta}) = \hat{\theta} = \hat{\sigma}(\hat{\theta}) = \hat{\theta} \hat{\phi} = \hat{\sigma}(\hat{\theta}) = \hat{\theta} \hat{\phi} = \hat{\sigma}(\hat{\theta}) = \hat{\delta} \hat{\phi} \hat{\phi}$	$V\hat{A}Rig \hat{\lambda}ig \}$	ŝ	$\hat{\sigma}(\hat{\delta})$	$\hat{ heta}$	$\hat{\sigma}(\hat{ heta})$	$\hat{ heta}_{\%}$	$\hat{\sigma} ig(\hat{ heta} _{ rac{N}{2} } ig)$
February 2007 - April 2007	52	85	52 85 0.50	0.98	0.98 41.7 52	52	20.4	52	52 10.4 8.5 1.23 0.21	8.5	1.23	0.21	23	21
May 2007- July 2007	69	86	0.50	0.98	0.98 42.1 69	69	20.6	69	26.9	26.9 9.5 1.62 0.26	1.62	0.26	62	26
August 2007 - October 2007	58	74	58 74 0.50	0.98	0.98 36.3 58	58	17.8		58 21.7 8.7 1.58 0.27	8.7	1.58	0.27	58	27
November 2007- January 2008	39	110	39 110 0.50	0.98	0.98 53.9 39	39	26.4		-14.9 8.1 0.72 0.13	8.1	0.72		-28	13
February 2008 - April 2008	26	85	26 85 0.50	0.98	0.98 41.7 26	26	20.4	26	26 -15.7 6.8 0.62 0.14	6.8	0.62		-38	14

Table 34. Results of Graphical	esults	of Gr	aphice	ul Safet	y Anal	ysis: N	<u> 4P 7.5 – 8.5; Both Dire</u>	Safety Analysis: MP 7.5 - 8.5; Both Directions Together; One-Month Monitoring.	Jonth Monitoring.
	Γ	Х	r_d	\hat{r}_{tf}	$\hat{\pi}$	$\hat{\lambda}^{_{1}}$	Threshold for increase	Threshold for greater than 20% increase	Threshold for greater than 40% increase
January 2007	10	32	0.50	0.98	15.7	10	**		
February 2007	7	33	0.50	0.98	16.2	7			
March 2007	11	42	0.50	0.98	20.6	11			
April 2007	9	27	0.50	0.98	13.2	9			
May 2007	14	27	0.50	0.98	13.2	14	19		
June 2007	2	17	0.50	0.98	8.3	5			
July 2007	15	28	0.50	0.98	13.7	15	20		
August 2007	11	21	0.50	0.98	10.3	11	16		
September 2007	10	13	0.50	0.98	6.4	10	11		
October 2007	14	19	0.50	0.98	9.3	14	14	17	
November 2007	9	17	0.50	0.98	8.3	9			
December 2007	14	38	0.50	0.98	18.6	14			
January 2008	13	32	0.50	0.98	15.7	13			
February 2008	7	33	0.50	0.98	16.2	7			
March 2008	6	42	0.50	0.98	20.6	6			
April 2008	7	27	0.50	0.98	13.2	7			

¹ the number in this column is compared to the accident thresholds

Table 35. R	esults	of Gr	aphica	ll Safet	y Anal	ysis: N	<u>1P 8.5 – 9.5; Both Dire</u>	Table 35. Results of Graphical Safety Analysis: MP 8.5 - 9.5; Both Directions Together; One-Month Monitoring.	1 onth Monitoring.
	Γ	Х	$r_{_{d}}$	$\hat{r}_{_{\!$	ψ	ý	Threshold for increase	Threshold for greater	Threshold for greater
			3	<i>u</i>		~~		than 20% increase	than 40% increase
January 2007	18	25	0.50	0.98	12.3	18	18	21	
February 2007	13	33	0.50	0.98	16.2	13	**		
March 2007	11	28	0.50	0.98	13.7	11			
April 2007	16	18	0.50	0.98	8.8	16	14	16	19
May 2007	13	18	0.50	0.98	8.8	13	14		
June 2007	14	28	0.50	0.98	13.7	14	20		
July 2007	16	12	0.50	0.98	5.9	16	11	12	14
August 2007	12	23	0.50	0.98	11.3	12	17		
September 2007	19	21	0.50	0.98	10.3	19	16	18	21
October 2007	11	23	0.50	0.98	11.3	11			
November 2007	18	30	0.50	0.98	14.7	18	22		
December 2007	9	42	0.50	0.98	20.6	6			
January 2008	8	25	0.50	0.98	12.3	8			
February 2008	6	33	0.50	0.98	16.2	6			
March 2008	8	28	0.50	0.98	13.7	8			
April 2008	12	18	0.50	0.98	8.8	12	14		

¹ the number in this column is compared to the accident thresholds

Month Monitoring.	Threshold for greater than 40% increase						21	27	26		26						
ctions Together; One-	Threshold for greater than 20% increase			25			18	24	22		22						
Safety Analysis: MP 9.5 – 10.5; Both Directions Together; One-Month Monitoring.	Threshold for increase	22	19	22	**		16	19	19	17	19			22			
sis: M	$\hat{\lambda}^{_1}$	16	15	24	13	12	26	31	22	14	22	14	10	15	11	12	3
Analy	$\hat{\pi}$	14.7	13.2	14.7	13.7	18.1	10.3	13.7	12.7	10.8	12.7	14.7	24.5	14.7	13.2	14.7	13.7
Safety	\hat{r}_{y}	0.98	0.98	0.98	0.98	0.98	0.98	0.98	0.98	0.98	0.98	0.98	0.98	0.98	0.98	0.98	0.98
phical	r_d	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50
of Gra	К	30	27	30	28	37	21	28	26	22	26	30	50	30	27	30	28
esults	L	16	15	24	13	12	26	31	22	14	22	14	10	15	11	12	3
Table 36. Results of Graphical		January 2007	February 2007	March 2007	April 2007	May 2007	June 2007	July 2007	August 2007	September 2007	October 2007	November 2007	December 2007	January 2008	February 2008	March 2008	April 2008

¹ the number in this column is compared to the accident thresholds

Table 37. Results of Graphical	Results	of Gr	aphical	l Safety	' Analy	sis: M	I Safety Analysis: MP 7.5 – 8.5; Both Directions Together; Quarterly Monitoring.	tions Together; Quart	erly Monitoring.
	Γ	L K	r_d	\hat{r}_{tf}	$\hat{\pi}$	$\dot{\mathcal{Y}}^{1}$	$\hat{\lambda}^{1}$ Threshold for increase	Threshold for greater than 20% increase	Threshold for greater than 40% increase
February 2007 - April 2007		102	24 102 0.50	96.0	50.0	24	**		
May 2007- July 2007	34	34 72 0.50	0.50	96.0	35.3	34			
August 2007 - October 2007	35	35 53 0.50	0.50	0.98	26.0 35	35	34	41	
November 2007- January 2008		33 87 0.50	0.50	0.98	0.98 42.6 33	33			
February 2008 - April 2008		20 102 0.50	0.50	0.98	50.0	20			

• . Ļ F . Ć E F ц О 1 1 0 - 0

¹ the number in this column is compared to the accident thresholds

Table 38.	Results	s of G	raphic	al Safe	ty Anal	ysis: N	Table 38. Results of Graphical Safety Analysis: MP 8.5 – 9.5; Both Directions Together; Quarterly Monitoring.	tions Together; Quart	erly Monitoring.
	Γ	К	r_d	\hat{r}_{tf}	$\hat{\pi}$	$\dot{\gamma}^{-}$	$\hat{\lambda}^{1}$ Threshold for increase	Threshold for greater than 20% increase	Threshold for greater than 40% increase
February 2007 - April 2007	40	79	79 0.50)	38.7	40	49		
May 2007- July 2007	43	58	0.50	0.98	28.4	43	37	43	50
August 2007 - October 2007	42	67	67 0.50		0.98 32.8 42	42	42	50	
November 2007- January 2008	32	67	0.50	0.98	47.5	32	* *		
February 2008 - April 2008	26		79 0.50		0.98 38.7 26	26			

¹ the number in this column is compared to the accident thresholds

Table 39. F	Results	of Gr	aphica	l Safet	y Analy	sis: M	Table 39. Results of Graphical Safety Analysis: MP 9.5 – 10.5; Both Directions Together; Quarterly Monitoring.	ctions Together; Quart	erly Monitoring.
	Γ	K r_d	r_d	\hat{r}_{if}	$\hat{\pi}$	$\dot{\gamma}^{_{-}}$	$\hat{\lambda}^{1}$ Threshold for increase	Threshold for greater than 20% increase	Threshold for greater than 40% increase
February 2007 - April 2007	52		85 0.50	0.98	0.98 41.7	52	52	61	
May 2007- July 2007	69		86 0.50		0.98 42.1 69	69	52	61	72
August 2007 - October 2007	58		74 0.50	0.98	0.98 36.3 58	58	46	51	62
November 2007- January 2008	39		110 0.50		0.98 53.9	39	* *		
February 2008 - April 2008	26	85	26 85 0.50		0.98 41.7 26	26			

• . į Ć E F ų ¢ ų ¢ ç ζ •

¹ the number in this column is compared to the accident thresholds

SUMMARY

The recommended short-term monitoring technique, a graphical version of a direct comparison of the safety of the work zone segment to what would have been the safety of the same segment had the work zone not been there, provided consistent results to generally accepted computational methods. The graphical methods are practical for TxDOT district personnel to implement on construction projects. Results showed that the ability to discern an actual reduction in safety from a random increase in accidents is more difficult as the monitoring period and segment lengths become shorter. Figure 13 through Figure 18 provide assistance in selecting an appropriate segment length and monitoring period. Results showed that conclusions may also depend on how roadway segments or consecutive months are aggregated. The analyst will need knowledge of the beginning and ending dates of major construction phases in order to make useful data aggregation decisions.

SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The goal of this project was to identify and investigate methods and procedures that TxDOT could implement to meet the requirements of the FHWA work zone safety and mobility final rule. Toward this goal, TTI researchers identified key work zone safety and mobility performance measures that TxDOT should target as part of a work zone monitoring program within a district, region, or across the state. Researchers developed analysis methodologies and computational procedures that yield the recommended performance measures. For mobility-based measures, the methodologies differ depending on the type of data that is available or can be obtained regarding the operating conditions in the field. Initially, researchers recommend that TxDOT target the collection of queue length and travel time delay data caused by temporary lane closures, as the congestion and delays that result from those activities are the simplest to isolate and attribute to the work activities themselves. If the work zone is located within the limits of a functioning electronic traffic surveillance system, data from the traffic sensors of that system are used to develop the targeted measures of work zone performance. If a traffic surveillance system is not available, queue length data documented systematically by TxDOT field crews were shown to be a reasonable method of collecting performance data. In both cases, researchers presented computational procedures to illustrate how the key measures of performance can then be determined from the field data collected.

With regards to work zone safety monitoring, researchers developed procedures that aid a district or project engineer in determining which projects are most suitable for safety monitoring via a periodic review of crash statistics occurring before and during the project. Researchers developed graphs that indicate combinations of work zone length (or work zone segment length), ADT, normal crash rate, and work zone phase or project direction. These graphs will most likely allow for reasonable inferences to be made regarding the relative level of safety being maintained within the project. Researchers also developed graphs to aid field or district personnel in quickly determining whether accident frequencies being experienced during a project are within, or above, tolerance limits for that type of project on that facility.

REFERENCES

- 1. Work Zone Safety and Mobility. Code of Federal Regulations, Chapter 23, Part 630— Preconstruction Procedures, Subpart J. U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC, September 9, 2004.
- 2. Scriba, T., P. Sankar, and K. Jeannotte. *Implementing the Rule on Work Zone Safety and Mobility*. Report No. FHWA-HOP-05-065. FHWA, U.S. Department of Transportation, Washington, DC, September 2005.
- Office of Construction Quarterly Performance Measures Summary Report. Florida Department of Transportation, Gainsville, FL. <u>http://www.dot.state.fl.us/construction/CONSTADM/reports/perfmeasNEW/fy0607/4thQ</u> <u>tr0607PerformanceMeasures.pdf</u>. Accessed August 2008.
- 4. FDOT Hireback Report. Florida Department of Transportation, Gainesville, FL. http://www.dot.state.fl.us/construction/CONSTADM/reports/qtrFHP/FY0607/FHP1stQtr Report0607.pdf. Accessed October 2006.
- Holstein, D. Work zone Safety and Mobility. Presented at the Montana Regional Work Zone Rule Workshop, April 2006. http://ops.fhwa.dot.gov/wz/decision_support/ohio_crash_analysis/ohio_crash_ analysis.ppt.
- 6. MoDOT Tracker Measures of Performance. Missouri Department of Transportation, Jefferson City, MO. http://www.modot.org/about/general_info/Tracker.htm
- Work Zone Mobility and Safety Self-Assessment 2007 National Report. Office of Operations, FHWA, U.S. Department of Transportation, Washington, DC, September 2007. http://ops.fhwa.dot.gov/wz/decision_support/2007/wzsa_final_07.htm.
- 8. The Urban Congestion Report. FHWA, U.S. Department of Transportation, Washington, DC. http://ops.fhwa.dot.gov/perf_measurement/ucr/index.htm.
- 9. *Highway Capacity Manual*. TRB, National Research Council, Washington, DC. 2000.
- 10. Memmott, J.L. and C.L. Dudek. *A Model to Calculate the Road User Costs at Work Zones*. Report No. FHWA/TX-83/20+292-1. Texas Transportation Institute, College Station, TX, September 1982.
- 11. Google Maps. http://maps.google.com/maps?hl=en&tab=wl.
- 12. Ullman, G.L. Queuing and Natural Diversion at Short-Term Freeway Work Zone Lane Closures. In *Transportation Research Record 1529*. TRB, National Research Council, Washington, DC, 1995, pp. 19-26.
- 13. Ullman, G.L. A Study of Natual Diversion at Temporary Work Zone Lane Closures on Urban Freeways with Frontage Roads. Ph.D. Dissertation, Texas A&M University, College Station, TX, 1995.
- 14. Hauer, E. Observational Before-After Studies in Road Safety: Estimating the Effect of Highway and Traffic Engineering Measures on Road Safety. Elsevier Science Ltd., Oxford, UK, 2002.

APPENDIX: TRANSGUIDE-DETECTED QUEUE PRESENCE DURING IH-35 PILOT TEST

	8-Apr	tart End									9:00 11:00	9:00 11:00	9:00 10:00					1.5
	7-Apr	Start End Start									5	5	5					
	6-Apr	Start End S																
2008).	5-Apr	Start End																
eue Presence between Sensor IDs: IH 35 Southbound (3/13-4/8/2008).	4-Apr	Start End																
nd (3/1	3-Apr	Start End											10:30 13:45					0.5
thbou	2-Apr	Start End																
35 Sou	1-Apr	Start End											9:00 10:45					0.5
s: IH 3	31-Mar	Start End		7:15 8:15								-:00 11:30 13:15 9:45 10:30 13:30 15:00 9:00 15:00 9:30 15:00 11:30 13:15						0.5
sor ID	24-Mar 25-Mar 26-Mar 27-Mar 28-Mar	Start End										9:30 15:00	14:45 15:00 9:00 11:30 9:45 15:00					1.0
in Sens	27-Mar	Start End										9:00 15:00	9:00 11:30					1.0
oetwee	26-Mar	Start End		16:30 18:30		15:45 18:30		15:45 18:30		16:00 18:00		13:30 15:00	14:45 15:00					1.0
sence ł	25-Mar	Start End										9:45 10:30						0.5
le Pres	24-Mar	Start End						2:00 11:15 12:15	1:00 12:00 11:15 12:15	11:15 12:15		11:30 13:15	11:30 13:00					2.9
fQueu	20-Mar							11:00 12:00	11:00 12:00			9:30 14:00						2.5
mes o	19-Mar	Start End											11:00 14:15					0.5
40. Ti	18-Mar	Start End																
Table 40. Times of Qu	17-Mar	Start End Start End Start End Start End										9:30 14:30	9:45 15:45 9:15 14:45 9:30 14:45					1.0
•	14-Mar											10:00 15:45 9:15 14:45 9:30 14:30	9:15 14:45					1.0
	13-Mar	Sensor ID Start End											9:45 15:45					1.0
		Sensor ID	158.036	158.492	158.947	159.500	159.998	160.504	160.892	161.405	161.846	162.482	162.899	163.421	163.896	164.412	164.909	Queue Length (ft)

Table 41 Times of Onene Presence between Sensor IDs: IH 35 Southhound (4/9-4/30/2008)

$\begin{array}{ $	16-Apr 17-Apr	10 1.00 10	_							
Start End Start End Start End Start Start		10-Mpi 20-Mpi	21-Apr 2	22-Apr 23-Apr	or 24-Apr	25-Apr	26-Apr	27-Apr 28	28-Apr 29-Apr	30-Apr
	End Start End St	tart End Start End	Start End Sta	rt End Start I	End Start End	Start End S	start End St	tart End Start	End Start End	Start End
	12:30 13:45 9:30 11:45 1	11:00 12:15								
			14:(14:00 15:00						
	0:15 12:00 14:00 9:15 12:30 9:15 12:45	:15 12:45		14:45 1:	14:45 15:15 9:15 12:15		17	17:30 18:15		
					8:45 11:15		_		8:45 10:00	0
	16:30 17:30									
Note: Initiation of queue if speed is lower than 30 mph and queue dissipates if speed is h	1.9 1.9	1.9		0.5	0.5 1.5			0.5	0.5	
	f speed is higher than 30 mpl	 Queue length is calcu 	lated between lan	he closure time 9:(00 AM and 16:00	PM as applical	ble.			
No queue										

	F	End										:00				5:45			0.5	
	8-Apr	Start E										16:30 17				15:45 16			_	
	7-Apr	End Start End St								1:15 11:30		11:00 11:30 16:30 17:00				15:45 17:45 15:45 16:45			1.5	
		nd Star	_							1:11		11:0	_			15:4	_			
•	6-Apr	Start E																		
(SUL	Apr	End 3																		
12/2	5-Apr	d Start								.5						0			10	
ueue Presence Detween Sensor LDS: IN 35 Northbound (3/13-4/8/2008)	4-Apr	tart En								16:45 17:15						16:45 18:00 15:30 18:30			3.5	ole.
. (C)]		End S								10			_			18:00 1:			0.5	applicat
una	3-Apr	Start										0				16:45				0 PM as
nbo	2-Apr	art End										6:15 17:30							0.5	und 16:0
NOL	pr	End St	_	_	-							16	_				_			00 AM
J CC	1-Apr	Start																		e time 9:
Ш	31-Mar	rt End																		ie closur
IUS:	_	and Sta	_			1:30		1:30	1:30	1:15		7:45	_		7:45	8:00			2.4	ween lan
SOL	28-Mar	Start E				11:45 14		12:45 14:30	12:45 14:30	12:45 14:15		16:15 17			15:45 17	14:45 18:00				lated bet
Sen	27-Mar	t End				13:30 14:45 11:45 14:30						16:00 17:45 16:15 17:45 16:15 17:45			16:00 18:00 15:45 17:45				0.5	is calcu
een		nd Star				13:3		:30				:45 16:1			16:0				0.5	ie length
erw	26-Mar	Start E						4:15 14:30				6:00 17							0	h. Quet
ice n	25-Mar	End				14:15 15:00		-				1			0 17:45				0.5	an 30 mp
esen		d Start				14:15						30			00 17:30				2.0	igher tha
e rr	24-Mar	tart En										18:00 16:45 17:30			18:15 16:15 17:00 17:30 17:45				2	pates if speed is higher than 30 mph. Queue length is calculated between lane closure time 9:00 AM and 16:00 PM as applicable.
nen	20-Mar	End S				15:00		12:45	14:30 14:45	11:00		18:00 10	_		18:15 10				1.5	oates if sj
שו	20-1	I Start				11:15		12:15	14:30	10:30		16:30			5 16:15					ue dissif
les (19-Mar	art Enc													16:45 17:15 16:15					and que
TIM	_	End St		_									_		16		_			1 30 mph
42.	18-Mar	Start										0								wer than
able 42. Times of Q	17-Mar	Start End Start End Start End Start End Start End				11:30 18:30 12:45 13:15						15 17:30							0.5	Note: Initiation of queue if speed is lower than 30 mph and queue dissil
La		End Sta			5:00	8:30 12:-	8:00	8:30	00:6	00:6		9:00 17:							2.9	eue if sp
	14-Mar	Start F			13:45 16:00	11:30 18	12:00 18:00	15:45 18:30 13:30 18:30	15:30 18:30 12:45 19:00	15:30 18:30 14:00 19:00		15:00 18:45 16:00 19:00 17:15 17:30								on of qu
	13-Mar	t End						5 18:30	0 18:30	0.18:30		0 18:45			14:30 18:45				2.0	: Initiatio
	13	D Start	5	2	-	6	8				5	_	6	1		2	6		(1)	Note
		Sensor ID	158.036	158.492	158.947	159.500	159.998	160.504	160.892	161.405	161.846	162.482	162.899	163.421	163.896	164.412	164.909	Queue	Length (ft)	
	L	-				L		L	L		L	L		L	L	L		0	Г	

Table 42. Times of Onene Presence between Sensor IDs: IH 35 Northhound (3/13-4/8/2008).

No queue Data not available/not collected

(4/9-4/30/2008) -thh IH 35 No Î J -+04 Á f Ou Ē Tahla 43

					•														
9-Apr	pr 10-Apr	11-Apr	13-Apr	14-Apr	15-Apr	16-Apr	16-Apr 17-Apr	18-Apr	20-Apr	21-Apr	22-Apr	23-Apr	23-Apr 24-Apr		25-Apr 26-Apr	27-Apr	28-Apr	29-Apr	30-Apr
Start	Sensor ID Start End Start End Start End Start End Start End	I Start End	Start End	Start End	Start	Start End	Start End	Start End	Start End	Start End	Start End	Start End	Start End	Start End	Start End	Start End	Start End	End Start End St	Start End
				14:30 14:45	5														
		12:00 15:15	2	14:00 15:00 14:15		14:30 9:15 9:45		13:15 14:45											
159.998																			
160.504 15:45 16:45	16:45	14:00 14:15	2		16:00 16:15														
		12:00 15:00	0		15:45 16:45	16:45 9:30 9:45				16:45 17:30								1	17:15 17:30
161.405 15:30 17:15	17:15	20:15 23:45	2							16:45 17:00								-	17:15 17:30
161.846 15:30 16:45	16:45																		
162.482 15:15 1	15:15 17:00 16:30 17:30 15:45 16:45	0 15:45 16:4:	2		16:45 17:45		16:15 18:30			16:15 17:15	16:15 17:15 17:45 18:30						16:30 17:45	16:30 17:45 16:15 17:00 16:15 17:45	6:15 17:45
163.896 11:00 1	11:00 17:00 13:15 15:15 11:00 15:15	5 11:00 15:1:	10	17:00 17:15	5	15:45 17:15	15:45 17:15 16:30 18:30 11:00 14:45	11:00 14:45			17:15 18:30						16:15 17:45		
164.412 10:45 1	10:45 18:00 10:00 15:15 9:45 13:15	5 9:45 13:1:	10					9:15 17:30			17:15 18:30		16:00 17:45	16:00 17:45 15:30 17:00				15:45 17:15	
10:15 15:45	15:45	9:15 13:15	2							16:15 16:30	16:15 16:30 17:15 18:30								
Lenoth (ft)	4.7 1.0	1.9		1.5	0.5	1.9	2.0	0.5		2.8	2.8		0.5	0.5			2.3	0.5	2.0

No queue Data not available/not collected

98